








 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

MEETING 
 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 

MAY 18, 2009 

1



 

 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

OMAHA, NEBRASKA 
 
BOARD MEETING             STROH ADMINISTRATION CENTER 
6:30 P.M.                             5606 SOUTH 147th STREET 
                                                    MAY 18, 2009 

AGENDA 
PAYBAC RECEPTION AT 5:45 P.M. 
 

A. Call to Order 
 

The Public Meeting Act is posted on the Wall and Available for Public Inspection 
 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
C. Roll Call 
 
D. Public Comments on agenda items – This is the proper time for public questions and comments on agenda 

items only.  Please make sure a request form is given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 
 

E. Routine Matters 
1. *Approval of Board of Education Minutes – May 4, 2009 
2. *Approval of Bills 
3. *Receive the Treasurer’s Report and Place on File 
4. Summary of Committee of the Whole Meeting – May 11, 2009 

 
F. Information Items 

1. PAYBAC Award Presentations 
2. Superintendent’s Comments 
3. Board Comments/Announcements 
4. Report from Student Representatives and Presentation of Plaques to Students 

 
G. Unfinished Business: 

1. Approval of Policy 6120 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Written Curriculum – MEP 
Curriculum Planning 

2. Approval of Policy 6130 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Written Curriculum – 
Frameworks and Course Guides 

 
H. New Business 

1. Approval of 2009 Graduates 
2. Approval of Rule 6120.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Written Curriculum – MEP 

Curriculum Planning 
3. Approval of Rule 6130.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Curriculum Frameworks 
4. Approval of Rule 6130.2 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Course Guides 
5. First Reading of Policy 4125 – Human Resources - Certification 
6. Approval of Rule 4510.6 – Human Resources – Leaves of Absence – Family and Medical Leave Act 
7. Approval of Rule 5400.1 – Pupil Services – Student Discipline 
8. Approval of Rule 5400.6 – Pupil Services - Standards for Student Conduct 
9. Approval of Contract for Interactive Whiteboards 
10. Approval of Personnel Actions: Amendment to Continuing Contract(s), Resignation(s), and New 

Hire(s) 
11. Pupil Personnel Services (Executive Session) 
12. Negotiations (Executive Session) 

 

2



 

 

 
Agenda 
May 18, 2009 
Page 2 
 
 

I. Reports 
1. Legislative Update 
2. Updated Enrollment Projections 
3. ELO Senior Status Update 
4. Curriculum Management Audit Update 
5. Career Academy Development Update 

 
J. Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar 

1. 2009 Graduations will be held on Saturday, May 30, 2009 for Millard West High School at 10 a.m., 
Millard North High School at 1 p.m., and Millard South High School at 4 p.m. at the Civic 
Auditorium 

2. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 1, 2009 at 6 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration 
Center, 5606 South 147th Street 

3. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, June 8, 2009 at 6 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration 
Center, 5606 South 147th Street 

4. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 15, 2009 at 6 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration 
Center, 5606 South 147th Street 

5. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, July 6, 2009 at 6 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration 
Center, 5606 South 147th Street 

6. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 3, 2009 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh 
Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street 

7. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, August 10, 2009 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh 
Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street 

8. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 17, 2009 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh 
Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street 

9. NFUSSD Conference on October 11-14, 2009 at  Embassy Suites LaVista Conference Center 
 

K. Public Comments - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on any topic.  Please 
make sure a request form is given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 

L.  Adjournment:   

All items indicated by an asterisk (*) will comprise the Consent Agenda and may be acted on in a single 
motion.  Items may be deleted from the Consent Agenda by request of any board member. 

3



BOARD OF EDUCATION 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

OMAHA, NEBRASKA  
 
BOARD MEETING       STROH ADMINISTRATION CENTER 
6:30 P.M.                         5606 SOUTH 147TH STREET 
                                                              MAY 18, 2009 
PAYPAC RECEPTION AT 5:45 P.M. 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE MEMORANDUM 
A. Call to Order 
 
 The Public Meeting Act is posted on the Wall and Available for Public Inspection 
 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
C. Roll Call 
 
D. Public Comments on agenda items - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on agenda items only.  Please 
make sure a request form is given to the Board President prior to the meeting. 
 
*E.1. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to approve the Board of Education Minutes – May 4, 2009.  (See 

enclosure.) 
 
*E.2. Motion by                     , seconded by                     , to approve the bills.  (See enclosures.) 
 
*E.3.  Motion by                     , seconded by                     , to receive the Treasurer’s Report and Place on File.  (See enclosure.) 
 
E.4.  Summary of Committee of the Whole Meeting – Monday, May 11, 2009 
 
F.1.   PAYBAC Award Winners 
 
F.2.  Superintendent’s Comments 
 
F.3.  Board Comments/Announcements 
 
F.4.  Report from Student Representatives and Presentation of Plaques 
 
G.1. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Policy 6120 – Curriculum, Instruction, and 

Assessment – Written Curriculum – MEP Curriculum Planning  (See enclosure.) 
 
G.2.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Policy 6130 – Curriculum, Instruction and 

Assessment (See enclosure.) 
 
H.1. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve 2009 Graduates (See enclosure.) 
 
H.2. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve 6120.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and 

Assessment – Written Curriculum - MEP Curriculum Planning (See enclosure.) 
 
H.3.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 6130.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and 

Assessment – Curriculum Frameworks (See enclosure.) 
 
H.4  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 6130.2 – Curriculum, Instruction, and 

Assessment – Course Guides (See enclosure.) 
 
H.5 First Reading of Policy 4125 – Human Resources – Certification (See enclosure.) 
 
H.6. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 4510.6 – Human Resources – Leaves of 

Absence – Family and Medical Leave Act.  (See enclosure.) 
 
H.7. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 5400.1 – Pupil Services – Student 

Discipline (See enclosure.) 

4



Administrative Memorandum 
May 18, 2009 
Page 2 
 
 
H.8.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 5400.6 – Pupil Services – Standards for 

Student Conduct (See enclosure.) 
 
H.9. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, that the contract for the installation of interactive 

whiteboards be awarded to Starks Electric in the amount of $234,864 and that the associate superintendent for general 
administration be authorized and directed to execute any and all documents related to such project (See enclosure.) 

 
H.10. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Personnel Actions: Amendment to Continuing 

Contract(s), Resignation(s), and New Hire(s).  (See enclosure.) 
 
H.11. Pupil Personnel Services (Executive Session) 
 
H.12. Negotiations (Executive Session) 
 
I.  Reports: 

1. Legislative Update 
2. ELO Senior Status Update 
3. Updated Enrollment Report 
4. Curriculum Management Audit Update 
5. Career Academy Development Update 

 
J.  Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar 

1. 2009 Graduations will be held on Saturday, May 30, 2009 for Millard West High School at 10 a.m., Millard North High 
School at 1 p.m., and Millard South High School at 4 p.m. at the Civic Auditorium 

2. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 1, 2009 at 6 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street 

3. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, June 8, 2009 at 6 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 
South 147th Street 

4. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 15, 2009 at 6 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street 

5. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, July 6, 2009 at 6 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street 

6. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 3, 2009 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 
South 147th Street 

7. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, August 10, 2009 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 
5606 South 147th Street 

8. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 17, 2009 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 
South 147th Street 

9. NFUSSD Conference on October 11-14, 2009.  Millard Public Schools is the host for this event.  Embassy Suites 
LaVista Conference Center 

 
K. Public Comments - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on any topic.  Please make sure a request form is 

given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 
 
L.  Adjournment 
 
All items indicated by an asterisk (*) will comprise the Consent Agenda and may be acted on in a single motion.  Items may be 
deleted from the Consent Agenda by request of any board member. 

5









 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Millard Public Schools 
May 18, 2009 

 

9



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 18, 2009

Date: 5/13/09

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
AMERICAN EXPRESS011651302051 10,274.30 
ARMBRUST FAMILY YMCA136880302052 78.75 
CHRISTOPHER COLLING107454302053 150.00 
CPI QUALIFIED PLAN CONSULTANTS INC137395302054 0.00 
PARK UNIVERSITY ENTERPRISES INC023923302059 298.00 
HY-VEE INC133397302060 233.05 
BRIAN L NELSON107732302063 312.50 
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT081630302065 141.02 
STEPHEN W. VENTEICHER107354302066 156.25 
JENNIFER L VEST136318302067 119.75 
WESTLAKE ACE HARDWARE INC094245302068 95.29 
BISHOP BUSINESS EQUIPMENT019111302091 5,058.65 
CARLETON COLLEGE132806302092 700.00 
CHRISTOPHER COLLING107454302093 150.00 
NSI-ALPHA CORPORATION137489302095 124.00 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK VISA106773302096 11,553.45 
FOUNDATION FOR CRITICAL THINKING137487302097 480.00 
LIDO DECK PRODUCTIONS INC136108302100 1,200.00 
MCCORMICKS ENTERPRISES INC.130756302101 483.15 
MILLARD NORTH HIGH SCHOOL065438302102 2,020.00 
BRIAN L NELSON107732302103 312.50 
PATRICK S TELLEY JR137486302105 156.25 
I ASSESSMENT LLC137488302106 0.00 
STEPHEN W. VENTEICHER107354302108 262.50 
MIKE KENNEDY132668302109 900.30 
ELIZABETH A ANDREASEN134167302111 204.60 
ATS MOBILE TELEPHONE CO INC010083302112 85.02 
RAYMOND J SAVARD136956302113 2,500.00 
AVIS RENT A CAR SYSTEM INC135330302114 370.12 
PAUL E BANCROFT SR137492302116 5.00 
JILL R BATMAN137493302117 50.00 
BERINGER CIACCIO DENNELL MABREY133480302118 16,220.40 
AMY M BLANCHARD135209302119 243.06 
COLLEEN BLOOMQUIST137089302120 54.22 
JANET S BUTLER020800302121 49.98 
MARK L CARLSON137483302123 60.60 
JONNA L CHILDERS-HANSEN024654302125 37.41 
CONNECTIVITY SOLUTIONS MFG INC133818302126 1,348.13 
CONOCOPHILLIPS133617302127 8,084.82 
COX COMMUNICATIONS INC108436302129 29,903.22 
COX COMMUNICATIONS INC108436302130 13,494.48 
PATRICIA A CRUM109021302132 537.95 
CULLIGAN WATER CONDITIONING106893302133 49.55 
CHERYL A CURTIS136988302134 36.25 
FRANCES A DABBS136742302135 18.06 
DEEP ROCK WATER130339302136 56.25 

10



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 18, 2009

Date: 5/13/09

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
DEX MEDIA EAST LLC109850302138 214.68 
LINDA K DONOHUE135373302140 450.00 
AMBER J DOOLITTLE134086302141 134.37 
RUTH A EHLER136122302143 18.90 
SARAH E ELLIOTT137495302144 91.80 
AMY J FRIEDMAN041543302146 40.50 
FSH COMMUNICATIONS LLC135031302147 208.11 
GALAXY CABLE INC107025302148 2,555.58 
ANN M GAPINSKI136097302149 78.00 
TAMMY GEBHART106894302150 160.45 
CANDRA R GUENTHER135016302153 247.30 
DIANE F HANSLER047846302154 55.58 
CHRISTOPHER M HUGHES108153302156 227.65 
HY-VEE INC133397302158 462.96 
HY-VEE INC132878302159 272.05 
HY-VEE INC049851302160 81.18 
HY-VEE INC049850302161 590.28 
JACQUELINE K JACOX054159302162 62.05 
JONI L JOHNSON135291302164 262.50 
JEFFREY L KASSMEIER137496302165 111.89 
JEANNE M KELLEY056278302166 208.16 
ANDREA L KIDD131177302167 25.00 
MICHELLE M KLUG132264302169 42.00 
BRIDGET K KOWAL134864302171 54.78 
SUSAN D KVASNICKA136472302172 111.00 
ELAINE J LAMBERTY133874302173 189.00 
KARYN A LAWRENCE133409302174 133.45 
KRAIG J LOFQUIST133758302175 51.01 
DAWN M MARTEN133201302177 147.54 
AMERICAN NATIONAL BANK133403302178 903.60 
SHARRON A MILLSAP065709302179 140.46 
DANA L MOORE135397302180 105.80 
MORRISSEY ENGINEERING INC134532302181 29,700.00 
NEXTEL PARTNERS INC109843302184 952.54 
AMY NUNAMAKER134628302185 265.00 
ALISON R PAVELKA137499302187 30.46 
SHEILA M PHELPS072382302188 50.00 
SUSAN M PIERSON132530302189 31.20 
MAUREEN R PREBLE107910302191 175.16 
QWEST090673302192 113.25 
STEPHANIE L RARICK137415302193 53.05 
AMBER E RIPA137470302195 355.92 
PAUL D ROCK136259302196 5.00 
SCHEMMER ASSOCATES INC081880302200 9,222.07 
MARGIE SCHIMENTI081881302201 540.93 
ANGELA J SCHRAMM134173302203 134.32 

11



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 18, 2009

Date: 5/13/09

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
SHERRY K SEIDL131719302205 69.95 
ELIZABETH K SMITH133211302208 145.67 
DELORA K SORENSON135543302209 9.00 
RHONDA A SPADY137498302210 43.25 
KENT E SPEER082438302211 44.42 
JAMES V SUTFIN084959302212 44.59 
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE090242302214 256.38 
JENNIFER L VEST136318302215 26.71 
CONNIE L VLCEK109122302216 9.50 
JULIE L WILLIAMS133153302221 20.00 
JULIE M WILLIAMS134846302222 86.42 
YOUNG & WHITE096200302223 17,987.26 

177,478.51 Total for GENERAL FUND
NHU NGUYEN13749021795 180.00 
GLENNIS STEVENS13749121796 28.60 
CULLIGAN WATER CONDITIONING10689321797 14.50 
ECHO ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO05237021798 526.85 
FROGS INC13618621799 132.00 
ENCORE ONE LLC13598321800 714.60 
ROWAN W LANG10222921801 148.50 
EDRIE K PEARCE10244521802 227.15 
RAY MARTIN COMPANY13236921803 4,083.00 
DEB RINGER13090321804 44.44 
KATHERINE L SIX13505721805 64.13 
UNITED ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO INC09021421806 4.18 
UPS GROUND FREIGHT INC13737921807 121.25 
JOHN CHARLES ADAIR13489221808 10.13 
RYAN G BISHOP13597221809 50.63 
SHAWN M CASTONGUAY13699721810 15.19 
MADELEINE R COLBERT13716021811 27.00 
RAFAEL DIAZ13699921812 111.38 
MARLEY J FLEMING13700021813 50.63 
GRACE GREENWOOD13402421814 6.75 
ZACKERY A KAPFER13630421815 91.13 
TAYLOR M KIM13716221816 40.50 
NICHOLAS T KING13566821817 60.75 
ANNA KLOSTERMAN13202921818 101.25 
TROY P KOSTAL13581321819 10.13 
MICHAEL KRMPOTIC13737621820 81.00 
WILLIAM E LANG13203221821 101.25 
ANDREW E LUCAS JR13725121822 30.38 
TAYLOR J MARSHALL13657021823 54.00 
CHRISTOPHER MCEVOY13318021824 70.88 
HEATH D MOORE13636621825 27.00 
RONALD A NEWTON JR13402521826 114.75 
LUCAS PELSTER13630721827 37.13 

12



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 18, 2009

Date: 5/13/09

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
TIMOTHY POYNTER II13716321828 20.25 
COURTNEY K RIETZ13630621829 50.63 
ADRIANA D ROBINSON13716421830 27.00 
TREY A SCHULTZ13700221831 40.50 
JESSICA L SHANNO13716521832 20.25 
ELIZABETH VACANTI13202821833 108.00 
BRIAN A VICARS13567421834 50.63 
AUSTIN K WILSON13700321835 30.38 

7,728.70 Total for FOOD SERVICE 
FUND

BERINGER CIACCIO DENNELL MABREY133480302118 1,291.42 
C & H MECHANICAL INC137494302122 11,400.00 
CONNECTIVITY SOLUTIONS MFG INC133818302126 13,840.47 
KIRKHAM MICHAEL & ASSOCIATES INC106314302168 1,439.00 
SIEMENS BUILDING TECHNOLOGIES INC.131887302206 10,250.00 

38,220.89 Total for SPECIAL BUILDING 
FUND

A & D TECHNICAL SUPPLY CO INC010040302110 1,494.25 
BERINGER CIACCIO DENNELL MABREY133480302118 11,414.84 
CONSTRUCT INC135287302128 261,977.40 
COX COMMUNICATIONS INC108436302129 89.78 
DLR GROUP INC107232302139 2,980.00 
DOSTALS CONSTRUCTION CO INC130648302142 2,231.00 
PORTER TRUSTIN CARLSON073010302190 102.00 
ROOFING SOLUTIONS INC134824302197 11,250.00 
THIELE GEOTECH INC108099302213 789.50 

292,328.77 Total for CONSTRUCTION 
FUND

MARCUS NORTHSTAR INC137480302055 958.23 
JEWISH FEDERATION OF OMAHA INC134875302062 1,250.00 
OMAHA SYMPHONY134051302064 500.00 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK VISA106773302096 5,906.03 
JEFF SIKORA132213302104 200.00 
UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA KEARNEY068839302107 326.38 
KRISTINA BAMESBERGER137482302115 24.00 
ELIZABETH A CHADEK136807302124 91.57 
JODI L CRITSER132845302131 24.05 
ROBERTA E DEREMER133009302137 52.85 
PAMELA A ERIXON135360302145 85.74 
JODY L GENSLER136113302151 34.00 
BAILEY HEMPHILL135616302155 225.00 
CASEY HURNER137484302157 33.00 
HY-VEE INC132878302159 70.52 
HY-VEE INC049850302161 136.22 
EMILY M JOHNSON137182302163 4.95 
DEBORAH S KOLC056905302170 701.21 
SHARRON A MILLSAP065709302179 210.90 
SUZANNE MUELLER135332302182 1,312.50 

13



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 18, 2009

Date: 5/13/09

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
DOREEN K NELSON134985302183 6.41 
RITA PASKOWITZ106973302186 200.00 
MARGARITA RUEB136033302198 21.98 
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT081630302199 106.54 
RACHEL C SCHNEIDER137497302202 16.67 
PAUL M SCHULTE137294302204 551.47 
KIMBERLY A SKRETTA083551302207 186.46 
LISA C WARD135625302217 43.87 
WENDY A WIGHT137485302218 184.07 
CHRISTY WILLIAMS136942302219 12.31 
DEBORAH A WILLIAMS108481302220 89.88 

13,566.81 Total for GRANT FUND
COVENTRY HEALTH & LIFE INS CO136587302094 232,199.72 

232,199.72 Total for 
JOHN D'ARCY032071302056 150.00 
DARREL DRAPER107948302057 125.00 
DARREL DRAPER107948302058 125.00 
KATHLEEN THACKER135411302061 625.00 
KATHLEEN THACKER135411302098 675.00 
LIDO DECK PRODUCTIONS INC136108302099 2,400.00 
WAYNE GRUDLE130309302152 42.00 
JAYNE MACHOLAN130575302176 1,200.00 
PEGGY A REINECKE132649302194 2,250.00 

7,592.00 Total for ACTIVITY FUND
KATHLEEN THACKER135411302061 -25.00 
KATHLEEN THACKER135411302098 -27.00 
LIDO DECK PRODUCTIONS INC136108302099 -96.00 
LIDO DECK PRODUCTIONS INC136108302100 -48.00 
I ASSESSMENT LLC137488302106 0.00 

-196.00 Total for 

768,919.40 Report Total               

14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73







AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM: Approval Policy 6120 Written Curriculum – MEP Curriculum 

Planning 
 
 
MEETING DATE:  May 18, 2009  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Educational Services  
 
 
TITLE AND  
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Approval of revised Policy 6120 Written Curriculum – MEP 

Curriculum Planning  
 
 
ACTION DESIRED: __X__ Approval 
 
 
BACKGROUND: The revisions to the Policy and Rule are the result of 

recommendations from the Curriculum Management Audit and 
a critical review of the processes and procedures needed to 
truly articulate a K-12 curriculum framework.  Legal counsel 
has reviewed and approved these changes. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Approval  
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:     None 
 
 
TIMELINE:  N/A 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S):     Mark Feldhausen, Carol Newton, Nancy Johnston, 
 Charlene Snyder, Kim Saum-Mills 
 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:    ______________________                                                    
       (Signature) 
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 
 

76

sphelps
New Stamp



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
 
Written Curriculum – MEP Curriculum Planning  6120 
 
 
The Millard Board of Education recognizes its responsibility to provide that all students develop the character traits 
and master the knowledge and skills necessary for personal excellence and responsible citizenship to provide that all 
students learn the Academic Skills and Applications and Life Skills and Performances necessary for personal 
success and responsible living

 

. Furthermore, it recognizes that to provide equal opportunity for all students a 
dynamic curriculum is needed to provide diverse opportunities, which challenge each student. 

To fulfill this responsibility in a comprehensive and systematic manner, the Millard Board of Education assigns to 
the Office of the Superintendent the responsibility for system wide planning for curriculum, instruction, and 
assessment. This will be accomplished through the following curriculum planning phases: 
 

I. Preparation and research 

II. 

I. Research and Alignment 

Design and Curriculum d

III. Implementation 

Development 

IV. Curriculum Monitoring 
 

Management 

 
Policy adopted:  May 3, 1999 Millard Public Schools 
Revised: August 2, 2004; May 18, 2009 Omaha, Nebraska 

77



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM: Approval of Policy 6130  Written Curriculum—Frameworks 

and Course Guides 
 
 
MEETING DATE:  May 18, 2009  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Educational Services  
 
 
TITLE AND  
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Approval of revised Policy 6130  Written Curriculum—

Frameworks and Course Guides 
 
 
ACTION DESIRED: __X__ Approval 
 
 
BACKGROUND: The revisions to the Policy and Rules are the result of 

recommendations from the Curriculum Management Audit and 
a critical review of the processes and procedures needed to 
truly articulate a K-12 curriculum framework.  Legal counsel 
has reviewed and approved these changes. 

  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Approval  
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:     None 
 
 
TIMELINE:  N/A 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S):     Mark Feldhausen, Carol Newton, Nancy Johnston, 
 Charlene Snyder, Kim Saum-Mills 
 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:    ______________________                                                    
       (Signature) 
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 
 

78

sphelps
New Stamp



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
 
Written Curriculum – Frameworks and Level/
 

Course Guides 6130 

 
The Superintendent shall establish the curriculum guidelines to articulate and coordinate the written curriculum and 
to provide consistency of the written curriculum from one level of the d

 

District to the next.  The curriculum 
guidelines shall provide for the development of the District’s curriculum and shall identify essential educational 
outcome criteria, set academic standards, and provide for the implementation, monitoring and assessment of student 
learning. 

 
Policy Adopted:  May 3, 1999 Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  December 5, 200; May 18, 2009
 

 Omaha, Nebraska 

79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM: Approval Rule 6120r1 Written Curriculum – MEP Curriculum 

Planning 
 
 
MEETING DATE:  May 18, 2009  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Educational Services  
 
 
TITLE AND  
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Approval of revised Rule 6120.1 Written Curriculum – MEP 

Curriculum Planning  
 
 
ACTION DESIRED: __X__ Approval 
 
 
BACKGROUND: The revisions to the Policy and Rule are the result of 

recommendations from the Curriculum Management Audit and 
a critical review of the processes and procedures needed to 
truly articulate a K-12 curriculum framework.  Legal counsel 
has reviewed and approved these changes. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Approval  
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:     None 
 
 
TIMELINE:  N/A 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S):     Mark Feldhausen, Carol Newton, Nancy Johnston, 
 Charlene Snyder, Kim Saum-Mills 
 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:    ______________________                                                    
       (Signature) 
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 
 

95

sphelps
New Stamp



            
Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 

 
Written Curriculum – MEP Curriculum Plannings      6120.1 

 

I. 

The curriculum planning phases are designed as a means by which system wide planning occurs. The four phases 
are as follows:  

II. 

Preparation and research 

III. 

Design and development 

IV. 

Implementation 

 

Management 

 

The steps in each of these phases will include an analysis of operational tasks which include, but are not limited to, 
the following: multicultural integration, technology, school-to-career/applied academics, staff development, support 
programs, and resource allocation.  

A. 
PHASE I - PREPARATION AND RESEARCH 

B. 

Determine composition of core committee and subcommittees. 

C. 

Develop leadership training for members of committees and subcommittees and plan for communication 
with all constituencies. 

D. 

Review the district Strategic Plan, Essential Learner Outcomes, and the Millard Educational Program and 
the K-12 Content Frameworks. 

E. 

Research and synthesize trends regarding curriculum/instruction/assessment, subject area trends, 
state, national and international standards, state law and Nebraska Department of Education guidelines. 

F. 

Preview resources available that may support outcomes and enabling objectives. 

G. 

Use data collected in the needs analysis conducted in Phase IV. 

Develop K-5, 6-8, 9-12 Philosophy (Mission) Statement and Belief Statements.  

PHASE II - DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT  

A. 

Utilize Philosophy, Beliefs, Best Practices Information, and Needs Analysis to:  

B. 

Develop scope and sequence of K-12 level and course outcomes. 

C. 

Develop scope and sequence of K-12 enabling objectives for each level/course. 

D. 

Develop assessments for level/course outcomes. 

Identify instructional materials and resources. 

96



E. 

F. 

Conduct necessary field tests or pilots. 

G. 

Conduct cost-benefit analysis to establish program budgets. 

H. 

Make appropriate resource decisions. 

I. 

Obtain approval of Curriculum Frameworks by Board of Education. 

J. 

Create course assessments and grading protocols/rubrics. 

K. 

Develop curriculum guides. 

L. 

Devise implementation plans, including staff development as needed. 

Share newly adopted curriculum with appropriate constituents. 

A. 
PHASE III - IMPLEMENTATION  

B. 

Allocate district resources 

C. 

Provides district staff development including best instructional practices and most effective strategies. 

D. 

Implemented program utilizing new curriculum guides and Frameworks 

E. 

Review and revise curriculum guides as needed. 

Develop Essential Learner Outcomes and/or benchmark assessments. 

A. 
PHASE IV – MANAGEMENT  

B. 

Monitor alignment between/among outcomes, enabling objectives, and assessments. 

C. 

Collect student and program assessment data to determine additional or alternate program needs. 

D. 

Provide resources and staff development as needed to refine program. 

 

Conduct cost-benefit analysis to maintain program budgets. 

Rule Adopted:  May 3, 1999 Millard Public Schools 
Revised: August 2, 2004 Omaha, Nebraska 

97



     

 

Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 

Written Curriculum – MEP Curriculum Planning     6120.1 

 

I. 

The curriculum planning phases are designed as a means by which system wide planning occurs. The four phases are as 
follows:  

II. 

Research and Alignment 

III. 

Curriculum Development 

IV. 

Implementation 

 

Curriculum Monitoring 

I. 

The steps in each of these phases will include an analysis of operational tasks which include, but are not limited to, the 
following: multicultural integration, technology, school-to-career/applied academics, staff development, support programs, 
and resource allocation.  
 
 

 
Phase I: Research and Alignment  

A. 
 

Identify Participants from Staff and Community for Committees  

B. 
 

MEP Representative Prepares Data Book to Provide Research and Data to Participants   

C. 
 

Curriculum Planning Committee Participants Receive and Review Provided Materials  

D. 
 

Parallel MEP Activities Completed 

E. 
 

Curriculum Planning  

F. 
 

Resource Evaluation Preparation  

G. 
 

Textbook Selection:  Field Study Preparation   

H. 
 

Textbook Selection:  No Field Study Preparation  

I. 
 
 

PreK-12 Framework Preparation   

II. 
 

Phase II: Curriculum Development  

A. 
 

Field Study for Textbook Selection  

B. 
 

No Field Study: Textbook Selection Committees meet  

C. 
 

Field Study and/or Textbook Selection Committee Report and Materials Approved by Board of Education  

D. 

 

Conduct cost-benefit analysis for total program implementation including, but not limited to, textbooks, 
ancillaries, interventions, technology, staff development, etc.  

E. 
 

Submit budget requirements to Appropriate Director  

F. 
 

Course Guides Developed 

98



     

G. 
 
All Course Guides subjected to quality review before implementation using identified criteria  

H. 
 
Devise implementation plan  

I. 
 
 

Share newly adopted course guides and materials with appropriate stakeholders including administrators   

III. 
 

Phase III: Implementation  

A. 
 
Allocate District resources 

B. 
 
Provide District staff development including best instructional practices and most effective strategies 

C. 

 

Provide administrators staff development and documentation to assist in monitoring the written, taught, and 
assessed curriculum (Instructional practices and fidelity of implementation via walk-through guide for 
principals) 

D. 
 
Implement courses using new course guides and PreK-12 Framework 

E. 
 
Monitor implementation and adjust course guides as needed 

F. 
 

Develop Essential Learner Outcomes and/or benchmark assessments  

G. 
 
Review and revise Demonstration of Proficiency and ELO reteaching materials 

H. 
 
 

Continue curriculum development process for Secondary Ed Core Elective Courses  

IV. 
 

 

Phase IV: Curriculum Monitoring  

A. 
 
Monitor implementation and adjust course guides as needed 

B. 
 

Provide resources and staff development as needed to refine course guides and their implementation 

C. 
 

Instructional practices and fidelity of implementation (walk-through guide for principals) 

D. 

 

Monitor alignment between/among standards, indicators, and indicator expectations, and assessment data 
through Vertical Team meetings, content area and cluster/grade level meetings, etc. 

E. 
 

 
 
 
 

Collect student and program assessment data to determine additional or alternate program needs 

Rule Adopted:  May 3, 1999 Millard Public Schools 
Revised: August 2, 2004; May 18, 2009 Omaha, Nebraska 

 

99



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM: Approval of Rules 6130.1 and 6130.2 Written Curriculum—

Frameworks and Course Guides 
 
 
MEETING DATE:  May 18, 2009  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Educational Services  
 
 
TITLE AND  
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Approval of Rules 6130.1 and 6130.2 Written Curriculum—

Frameworks and Course Guides 
 
 
ACTION DESIRED: __X__ Approval 
 
 
BACKGROUND: The revisions to the Policy and Rules are the result of 

recommendations from the Curriculum Management Audit and 
a critical review of the processes and procedures needed to 
truly articulate a K-12 curriculum framework.  Legal counsel 
has reviewed and approved these changes. 

  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Approval  
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:     None 
 
 
TIMELINE:  N/A 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S):     Mark Feldhausen, Carol Newton, Nancy Johnston, 
 Charlene Snyder, Kim Saum-Mills 
 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:    ______________________                                                    
       (Signature) 
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 
 

100

sphelps
New Stamp



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
 
Curriculum Frameworks 6130.1 
 
 

Curriculum frameworks shall be developed for each curricular area and provide the vision of the essential 
content of that curricular area. Frameworks shall be approved by the Board of Education. Curriculum 
frameworks will be comprised of the following: 
 

I. 
II. 

Participants in Framework Development 

III. 
Philosophy/mission/purpose/beliefs of the content area 

IV. 

Relationship of Framework to Millard Public Schools Academic & Life Skills Essential Learning 
Outcomes 

V. 
Content standards 

VI. 
Articulation chart (K-12 if applicable)  

VII. 
Instructional approaches 

VIII. 
Level/course outcomes, and objectives. Terminology may vary. 

IX. 
Outcome assessment(s) 

X. 
Primary source materials 

 
Tentative timeline for curriculum cycle. 

 
 

I. 
II. 

District Mission and Beliefs 

III. 
Philosophy of the content area 

IV. 

Relationship of Framework to Millard Public Schools Academic & Life Skills Essential Learning 
Outcomes 

V. 
Curriculum Planning Committee and Focus Group Participants 

VI. 
Timeline of Development Events 

VII. 

PK-12 scope and sequence derived from state standards and indicators or those recommended by 
National/Professional Organizations 

VIII. 
Grade level and list of courses where standards and indicators will be taught 

IX. 
Instructional approaches 

 
Appendix containing supporting documents and course descriptions for new courses 

 
 
 
 
Rule adopted:  May 3, 1999 Millard Public Schools 
Revised: February 20, 2006; May 18, 2009 Omaha, Nebraska 

101



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
 
Curriculum Course
 

 Guides 6130.2 
 

Course Guide development applies to all PreK-12 approved courses.  Course Guides shall based on 
approved PK-12 Framework.  Curriculum  Course

 

 Guides shall be provided to the staff for all courses at 
every level and shall set forth the following: 

I. 

II. 

Statement linking curriculum guide to framework document, including national and state 
standards where appropriate 

III. 
Course title and / or grade level 

IV. 
Course prerequisites if appropriate 

V. 
Course / grade level / subject outcome(s) and related objectives 

VI. 
Suggested timeline for instruction 

VII. 
Resources (primary/support materials) 

VIII. 
Formative and summative assessments aligned to the outcomes 

 

Suggested learning experiences  

I. 
II. 

Course Name 

III. 
Course Description 

IV. 
Standards and indicators taught within course 

V. 
Instructional practices - whole group, small group, individual  

VI. 
Instructional Sequence/Pacing 

VII. 
Required/Critical lessons and activities vs. Suggested/Optional  

A. 
Differentiation 

B. 
Extensions/Enrichments 

C. 
Accommodations  

VIII. 
Interventions (RtI+I) 

IX. 

Resources—textbook(s), technology, lab materials, Video-on-Demand materials, information 
center resources, etc. 

A. 
Assessments (aligned to standards and indicators and critical/required lessons) 

B. 

Formative: list recommended options including, but not limited to, rubrics, checklists, 
observations, anecdotal notes, essays, research papers, quizzes, tests, etc. 

X. 

Summative: K-8 summative assessment options include:  end of program (grade Level) 
assessments provided by approved program material.  9-12 summative assessments may 
include but not be limited to end of course, end of standard 

XI. 
Integration with other content areas as appropriate  

XII. 

Guides must integrate and show how the following are addressed: diversity and Multiculturalism; 
technology; service learning; Comparative Matrix of character education, life skills, 40 
Developmental Assets, and 21st Century Skills; career connections; interventions (Tier I); HAL 

 

Specialized guides for HAL; ELL; special education, alternative education; and District special 
programs (CORE, Montessori, IB, Academies, Mini-magnets) should be developed as needed at 
the same time as course guides. 

Related Policies & Rules:  6130, 6130.1 
 
Rule Adopted:  May 3, 1999 Millard Public Schools 
Rule Revised:  February 19, 2007; May 18, 2009 Omaha NE 

102



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 

 

 

Agenda Item: First reading of Board Policy Human Resources 4125 and Rule 

4125.1 

 

Meeting Date: May 18, 2009 

 

Department Human Resources 

 

Title and Brief 

Description: First reading of Human Resources Policy 4125 and Rule 

4125.1 

 

Action Desired: First Reading 

 

Background: This Policy and the Rules have been revised for your approval 

and were reviewed by the Cabinet and Legal Counsel. 

 

Options/Alternatives 

Considered: Leave unchanged, delete, or revise 

 

Recommendations: Approval upon second reading 

 

Strategic Plan 

Reference: N/A 

 

Implications of 

Adoption/Rejection: N/A 

 

Timeline: N/A 

 

Responsible 

Persons: Dr. Kirby Eltiste/Chad Meisgeier 

 

 

 

Superintendent’s Signature:  ______________________________________________ 

 

103

sphelps
New Stamp



Human Resources 
Certification 

4125 
 
Each administrator, including the superintendent, principals and 
supervisors or supervisor of any special subjects or subject in which 
persons actively supervise the work of other teachers in the subject or 
subjects shall hold either a Nebraska Administrative and Supervisory 
Certificate or a Nebraska Professional Administrative and Supervisory 
Certificate.I.  All persons holding the official title of (1) superintendent of 
schools, (2) principal or supervisor of an accredited school, or (3) 
supervisor of any special subjects or subject in which such persons 
actually supervise the work of other teachers in that subject or those 
subjects shall hold a Nebraska certificate to administer.   
 
II.  Except as provided in paragraph III, each person employed to teach 
shall hold a valid Nebraska certificate or permit issued by the 
Commissioner of Education legalizing him or her to teach the grade or 
subjects to which elected. 
 
III.  The District may employ persons who hold a valid certificate or permit 
to teach issued by another state as a substitute teacher for not more than 
ten (10) working days if the person begins the application process on the 
first day of employment for a Nebraska substitute teaching certificate and 
the issuance of such certificate is pending. 
 
IV.  Persons not holding a valid Nebraska teaching certificate or permit 
issued by the Commissioner of Education may be employed to serve as 
aides to a teacher or teachers.; provided, however, sSuch teacher aides 
may not assume any teaching responsibilities. TA teacher aides may be 
assigned non-teaching duties which are nonteaching in nature if the aide 
has been specifically prepared for such duties, including the handling of 
emergency situations which mayight arise in the course of performing 
those duties his or her work. 
 
Related Rule : 4125.1 
 
Date of Adoption: October 7, 1974 
Date of Revision: August 3, 1992; August 16, 1993; December 17, 2001; 
June 15, 2009 
Legal Reference: Nebr. Rev. Stat. §79-801; 79-802 
The Millard Public School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, gender, marital 
status, disability, or age in its employment, programs, and activities. 
Questions can be directed to: Superintendent, 5606 S. 147 St., Omaha, NE 68137, 402-715-8200. 

104



Privacy Statement 
 

105



Human Resources 
Certification: Certificate Registration, Renewal, or Change of Name 

 

4125.1 
 

Registration 

Each teacher andor administrator shall register his or her certificate or permit with 

the District. The superintendent or District administrator shall endorse on the 

certificate that it has been registered and the date of registration.  No employment 

of a teacher or administrator shall be valid until the certificate is registered. Failure 

to register a certificate valid for the position for which employed may result in loss 

of pay. 

 

Renewal 

Upon the expiration of an administrator’s or teacher’s certificate, it is the 

administrator’s or teacher's responsibility to make application for its renewal. 

Renewal forms are available in the Human Resources Office on-line through the 

Nebraska Department of Education. 

 

Change of Name 

If an administrator’s or teacher’s name should change by marriage, divorce, or by 

any other circumstance, it is the administrator’s or teacher’s responsibility to have 

the name changed on his or her certificate. 

 

Date of Adoption: October 7, 1974 

Date of Revision: Aug. 23, 1992, July 26, 1999, December 17, 2001, June 15, 

2009 

 

Legal Reference: Nebr. Rev. Stat. §79-804 
The Millard Public School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, gender, marital status, 
disability, or age in its employment, programs, and activities. 

Questions can be directed to: Superintendent, 5606 S. 147 St., Omaha, NE 68137, 4027158200. 

Privacy Statement 

 

106



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 

 

 

Agenda Item: Board Rule: Human Resources 4510.6 

 

Meeting Date: May 18, 2009 

 

Department Human Resources 

 

Title and Brief 

Description: Board Rule:  Human Resources 4510.6 – Family and Medical 

Leave Act. 

 

Action Desired: Approval 

 

Background: This Rule has been revised to incorporate recent changes to the 

Family and Medical Leave Act regulations.  The changes were 

prepared by Legal Counsel.   

 

Options/Alternatives 

Considered: N/A 

 

Recommendations: Approval 

 

Strategic Plan 

Reference: N/A 

 

Implications of 

Adoption/Rejection: N/A 

 

Timeline: N/A 

 

Responsible 

Persons: Dr. Kirby Eltiste/Chad Meisgeier 

 

 

 

Superintendent’s Signature:  ______________________________________________ 

 

107

sphelps
New Stamp



Category:  Human Resources  
Policy:  Leaves of Absence  
Rule:  Family and Medical Leave Act  4510.6  

 

I. Entitlement to Unpaid Leave Under the FMLA.  
A. Grounds for Family/Medical Leave. An eligible employee shall be entitled to a total of 12 work weeks of 

leave during any 12-month period for one or more of the following reasons:  
1. The birth of a son or daughter of an employee and in order to care for such son or daughter;  
2. The placement of a son or daughter with an employee for adoption or foster care;  
3. To care for a spouse, son, daughter, or parent of an employee if such spouse, son, daughter, or 

parent has a serious health condition; and/or  
4. A serious health condition that makes an employee unable to perform the functions of the 

position of such employee.  
B. Grounds for Servicemember Family Leave. An eligible employee shall be entitled to leave for qualifying 

servicemember leave as follows:  
1. Thirty days during the time the deployment order is in effect for a spouse or parent of the 

employee as set forth in the Nebraska Family Military Leave Act;  
2. A total of 12 work weeks of leave during any 12-month period because of any qualifying 

exigency arising out of the fact that a spouse, son, daughter or parent is on active duty or has 
been notified of an impending call or order to active duty in the Armed Forces in support of a 
contingency operation; or  

3. A total of 26 work weeks of leave during any 12-month period to care for a covered 
servicemember who is a spouse, son, daughter, parent, or the next of kin, when the covered 
servicemember is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, or is otherwise in 
outpatient status or on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness incurred 
in the line of duty on active duty and which renders the servicemember medically unfit to 
perform the duties of the servicemember's office, grade, rank, or rating.  Eligible employees 
may not take leave under this subparagraph to care for former members of the Armed Forces, 
former members of the National Guard and Reserves, or members on the permanent disability 
retired list. 

C. Expiration of Entitlement for Child Birth or Adoption Leave. The entitlement to leave under subparagraph 
I.A.1. (hereinafter "I.A.1.") and I.A.2. (hereinafter "I.A.2.") shall expire at the end of the 12-month period 
beginning on the date of such birth or placement.  

D. Combined Leave Total. During any single 12-month period, an eligible employee shall be entitled to a 
combined total of 26 work weeks of leave under subparagraphs I.A. and I.B. Nothing in this section shall 
be construed to limit the availability of leave under subparagraph I.A. during any 12-month period.  

E. Paid and Unpaid Leave. If the District provides paid leave for a lesser period of time, the additional weeks 
of leave necessary to attain the days or work weeks of leave required under this Rule will be provided 
without compensation.  
The District shall require the employee to substitute any of the employee's available paid leave for any 
part of the time period for such leave.  
No extensions beyond the required periods of leave for any given 12-month period will be allowed without 
prior Ddistrict approval. If an employee, however, uses paid leave under circumstances that are 
determined by the District not to qualify as FMLA leave, the leave will not count against the weeks of 
FMLA leave to which the employee is entitled.  
If any of the above provisions are subject to a collective bargaining agreement, the provisions of the 
collective bargaining agreement shall prevail.  

F. Intermittent or Reduced Leave.  
1. Immediate Family or Employee Health or Servicemember Family Leave for Instructional 

Personnel. Subject to the following paragraph, in any case in which an eligible district 
employee, employed principally in an instructional capacity for the District, requests leave under 
subparagraph I.A.3. (hereinafter "I.A.3.") or subparagraph I.A.4. (hereinafter "I.A.4."), or 
subparagraph I.B.3. (hereinafter "I.B.3.") that is foreseeable based on planned medical 
treatment and the employee would be on leave for greater than 20% of the total number of 
working days in the period during which the leave would extend, the District may require that 
such employee elect either:  

a. To take leave for periods of a particular duration, not to exceed the duration of the 
planned medical treatment; or  

b. To transfer temporarily to an available alternative position offered by the District for 
which the employee is qualified and that:  

i. Has equivalent pay and benefits; and  
ii. Better accommodates recurring periods of leave than the employee’s 

regular employment position.  

108



G. Immediate Family or Employee Health or Servicemember Family Lleave for Non-instructional Personnel. 
Leave under I.A.3. or I.A.4, I.B.2, or I.B.3. may be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule 
when medically necessary. The taking of leave intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule pursuant to 
this paragraph shall not result in a reduction of the total leave to which the employee is entitled beyond 
the amount of leave actually taken. If an employee requests intermittent leave, or leave on a reduced 
leave schedule, under I.A.3 or I.A.4, or I.B.3. that is foreseeable based on planned medical treatment, the 
District can require such employee to transfer temporarily to an available alternative position offered by 
the District for which the employee is qualified and that:  

1. Has equivalent pay and benefits; and  
2. Better accommodates recurring periods of leave than the employee's regular employment 

position.  
H. Birth or Adoption Leave. Leave under I.A.1. or I.A.2 shall not be taken by an employee intermittently or 

on a reduced leave schedule unless the employee and the District agree otherwise.  
II. Employee's Notice Requirement for Births or Adoptions. In any case in which the necessity for leave under 

I.A.1. or I.A.2. is foreseeable based on an expected birth or placement, the employee shall provide the District 
Human Resources Office with not less than 30 days' notice before the date the leave is to begin of the employee's 
intention to take leave, except that if the date of the birth or placement requires leave to begin in less than 30 days, 
the employee shall provide such notice as soon as is practicable.  

III. Employee's Notice Requirement for Health Leave or Servicemember Family Leave.  
A. In any case in which the necessity for leave under subparagraphs I.A.3. or I.A.4., or I.B.3. is foreseeable 

based on planned medical treatment, the employee:  
1. Shall make a reasonable effort to schedule the treatment so as not to disrupt unduly the 

operations of the District, subject to the approval of the health care provider of the employee or 
the health care provider of the son, daughter, spouse, parent, or next of kin of the employee, as 
appropriate; and  

2. Shall provide the District Human Resources Office with not less than 30 days' notice, before the 
date the leave is to begin, of the employee's intention to take leave under such subparagraph, 
except that if the date of such treatment requires leave to begin in less than 30 days, the 
employee shall provide such notice as soon as is practicable.  

B. In any case in which the necessity for leave under subparagraph I.B.2. is foreseeable, whether because 
the spouse, or a son, daughter, or parent of the employee is on active duty, or because of notification of 
an impending call or order to active duty in support of a contingency operation, the employee shall 
provide such notice to the District as is reasonable and practicable.  

IV. Certification For Serious Health Condition Leave. The District shall require that a request for leave under I.A.3. 
or I.A.4., or I.B.3. be supported by a medical certification issued by the health care provider of the eligible 
employee or of the son, daughter, spouse, or parent of the employee, as appropriate, which sets forth the 
information required by 29 C.F.R. § 825.306(a). The employee or the next of kin of an individual in the case of 
leave taken under I.B.3., shall provide, in a timely manner, a copy of such certification to the employer through the 
District Human Resources Office on forms provided by the District.  

A. Clarification and Authentication.  The District may contact the health care provider for purposes of 
clarification and authentication of the medical certification, whether an initial certification or recertification, 
after the employee has been given the opportunity to cure deficiencies and as provided in 29 C.F.R. § 
825.307(a).  It is the employee’s responsibility to provide the District with a complete and sufficient 
medical certification and to clarify the medical certification if necessary.The District may require that a 
request for leave under subparagraph I.B.2. be supported by a certification issued at such time and in 
such manner as the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Labor may be regulation prescribe.  

B. Second Opinion. In any case in which the District has reason to doubt the validity of the certification 
provided for leave under I.A.3. or I.A.4., the District may require, at the expense of the District, that the 
eligible employee obtain the opinion of a second health care provider designated or approved by the 
District concerning any information certified above for such leave. A health care provider so designated 
by the District shall not be employed on a regular basis by the District.  

C. Resolution of Conflicting Opinions. In any case in which the second opinion described above differs from 
the opinion of the original certification provided under this Rule, the District may require, at the expense 
of the District, that the employee obtain the opinion of a third health care provider designated or approved 
jointly by the District and the employee concerning the information so certified under this Rule. The 
opinion of the third health care provider concerning the information certified under this Rule shall be 
considered to be final and shall be binding on the District and the employee.  

D. Subsequent Recertifications. The District may require that the eligible employee obtain subsequent re-
certifications on a reasonable basisrecertification no more often than every thirty days in accordance with 
29 C.F.R. § 825.308.  

V. Certification for Qualifying Exigency and Military Caregiver Leave. 
A. Certification for Qualifying Exigency Leave.  The District shall require that for a request for leave under 

I.B.2., the employee provide a copy of the covered military member’s active duty orders or other 
documentation issued by the military which indicates that the covered military member is on active duty 
or call to active duty status in support of a contingency operation and the dates of the covered military 
member’s active duty service.  The District shall also require the employee to provide Department of 

109



Labor Form WH-384 (Appendix G to Part 825 of the Code of Federal Regulations) or another District 
form containing the same basic information. 

B. Certification for Military Caregiver Leave.  The District shall require that for a request for leave under 
I.B.3., the employee provide a certification completed by an authorized health care provider of the 
covered servicemember.  The District shall also require the employee to provide Department of Labor 
Form WH-385 (Appendix H to Part 825 of the Code of Federal Regulations) or another District form 
containing the same basic information, or , in lieu of such certification, the District shall accept the 
invitational travel orders (ITOs) or invitational travel authorizations (ITAs) issued to any family member to 
join an injured or ill servicemember at his or her bedside. 

C. Authentication and Clarification.  The District may seek authentication and clarification of and ITO or ITA 
pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 825.307, but the District may not utilize the second or third opinion process of 29 
C.F.R. § 825.307 or the recertification process of 29 C.F.R. § 825.308 during the period of time in which 
leave is supported by an ITO or ITA. 

VI. Spouses Employed by the District. In any case in which a husband and wife entitled to leave under this Rule are 
both employed by the District, the aggregate number of work weeks to which both may be entitled will be limited as 
follows:  

A. To 12 work weeks during any 12-month period in which such leave is taken under subparagraphs I.A.1., 
I.A.2., or AI.A.3.; and  

B. To 26 work weeks during any 12-month period in which leave is taken under subparagraph I.B.3. and 
I.A.1., I.A.2., or I.A.3.  

C. If the leave taken by a husband and wife includes leave described in subparagraph V.A. above, the 
limitation in subparagraph V.A. shall apply to such leave.  

VII. Employment and Benefits Protection.  
A. Restoration to Position. Except as otherwise provided, any eligible employee who takes leave under this 

Rule for the intended purpose of the leave shall be entitled, on return from such leave:  
1. To be restored by the District to the position of employment held by the employee when the 

leave commenced; or  
2. To be restored to an equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other 

terms and conditions of employment. For purposes of determinations relating to restoration to 
an equivalent position, such determination shall be made on the basis of established district 
board policies and practices and collective bargaining agreements.  

B. Employment Benefits. The taking of leave shall not result in the loss of any employment benefits accrued 
prior to the date on which the leave commenced.  

C. Limitations. Nothing in this section shall be construed to entitle any restored employee to:  
1. The accrual of any seniority or employment benefits during any period of leave; or  
2. Any right, benefit, or position of employment other than any right, benefit, or position to which 

the employee would have been entitled had the employee not taken the leave.  
D. Periodic Reporting. The District may require an employee on leave under I.A.1. through I.A.4. to report 

periodically on the status and intention of the employee to return to work.  
VIII. Maintenance of Health Benefits.  

A. Coverage. Except as provided in the next succeeding paragraph, during any period that an eligible 
employee takes leave under this Rule, the District shall maintain coverage under its group health plan for 
the duration of such leave at the level and under the conditions coverage would have been provided if the 
employee had continued in employment continuously for the duration of such leave.  

B. Failure to Return from Leave. The District may recover the premium that the District paid for maintaining 
coverage for the employee under such group health plan during any period of unpaid leave if:  

1. The employee fails to return from leave under this Rule after the period of leave to which the 
employee is entitled has expired; and  

2. The employee fails to return to work for a reason other than:  
i. The continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition that entitles the 

employee to leave under I.A.3., I.A.4., or I.B.3.; or  
ii. Other circumstances beyond the control of the employee.  

C. Certification. For a claim made under preceding paragraph VII.B.2., the District may require a timely 
certification by the treating health care provider on a form provided by the District to be submitted to the 
Human Resources Office.  

IX. Rules Applicable to Periods near the Conclusion of an Academic Term. The following rules shall apply with 
respect to periods of leave near the conclusion of the District's academic term in the case of any eligible employee 
employed principally in an instructional capacity by the District:  

A. Leave More than Five Weeks Prior to the End of Term. If the eligible employee begins leave under this 
Rule more than five weeks prior to the end of the academic term, the District may require the employee 
to continue taking leave until the end of the term, if:  

1. The leave is of at least three weeks duration; and  
2. The return to employment would occur during the three-week period before the end of such 

term.  
B. Leave Less than Five Weeks Prior to the End of Term. If the eligible employee begins leave under I.A.1., 

I.A.2., or I.A.3 or I.B.3.. of this Rule during the period that commences five weeks prior to the end of the 

110



academic term, the District may require the employee to continue taking leave until the end of such term 
if:  

1. The leave is of greater than two weeks duration; and  
2. The return to employment would occur during the two-week period before the end of such term.  

C. Leave Less than Three Weeks Prior to the End of Term. If the eligible employee begins leave under 
A.1.a., A.1.b., or a.1.c. I.A.1., I.A.2., I.A.3., or I.B.3. during the period that commences three weeks prior 
to the end of the academic term and the duration of the leave is greater than five working days, the 
District may require the employee to continue to take leave until the end of such term.  

X. Definitions  
A. Academic Term shall mean either of the two school semesters.  
B. Active Duty or Call to Active Duty Status shall mean duty under a call or order to active duty or 

notification of an impending call or order to active duty in support of a contingency operation pursuant to 
10 U.S.C. §§ 688, 12301(a), 12302, 12304, 12305, 12406, and Chapter 15 of Title 10 of the United 
States Code.  A call to active duty refers to a Federal call to active duty and State calls to active duty are 
not covered unless under the order of the President of the United States pursuant to the above 
statutesunder a provision of law referred to in 10 U.S.C. § 101(a)(13)(B).  

C. Contingency Operation shall mean the same definition given to such term in 10 U.S.C. § 101(a)(13)  and 
29 C.F.R. 825.800.  

D. Covered Servicemember shall mean a current member of the Armed Fforces, including a member of the 
National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise 
in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness 
incurred in the line of duty or active duty.  

E. Eligible Employee shall mean an employee who has been employed by the District for at least 12 months 
and for at least 1250 hours of service with the District during the previous 12-month period.  

F. Employment Benefits shall mean all benefits provided or made available to district employees, regardless 
of whether such benefits are provided by a district practice or written policy or through an employee 
benefit plan.  

G. Health Care Provider shall mean a doctor of medicine or osteopathy who is authorized to practice 
medicine or surgery (as appropriate) by the state in which the doctor practices or any other person 
determined by the Secretary of Labor to be capable of providing health care services.  

H. Instructional Employees shall mean those whose principal function is to teach and instruct students in a 
class, small group, or on an individual basis. This term includes not only teachers, but also athletic 
coaches, driving instructors, and special education assistants. This term does not include teacher 
assistants or aides who do not have as their principal function actual teaching or instructing, nor auxiliary 
personnel such as counselors, psychologists, curriculum specialists, cafeteria workers, maintenance 
workers, bus drivers, or other primarily noninstructional employees.   

I. Next of Kin of a Covered Servicemembers shall mean the nearest blood relative other than the covered 
servicemember’s spouse, parent, son, or daughter, in the following order of priority: blood relatives who 
have been granted legal custody of the covered servicemember by court decree or statutory provisions, 
brothers and sisters, grandparents, aunts and uncles, and first cousins, unless the covered 
servicemember has specifically designated in writing another blood relative as his or her nearest blood 
relative for purposes of military caregiver leave under the FMLAshall mean an individual's nearest blood 
relative.  

J. Parent shall mean athe biological, adoptive, step or foster father or mother parent of an employee or an 
individual who stood in loco parentis (i.e., in the place of a parent) to an employee when the employee 
was a son or daughter. This term does not include parents in law. 

K. Reduced Leave shall mean a leave schedule that reduces the usual number of hours per work week, or 
hours per work day, of an employee.  

L. Serious Health Condition shall mean an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that 
involves inpatient care in a hospital, hospice, or residential medical care facility, or continuing treatment 
by a health care provider.  

M. Serious injury or illness shall mean for members of the Armed Forces including members of the National 
Guard or Reserves, an injury or illness incurred by the member in the line of duty on active duty in the 
Armed Forces that may render the member medically unfit to perform the duties of their office, grade, 
rank, or rating.  

N. Son or Daughter shall mean a biological, adopted, or foster child, a stepchild, a legal ward, or a child of a 
person standing in loco parentis, who is under 18 years of age or who is 18 years of age or older and 
incapable of self-care because of a mental or physical disability.  

O. Spouse shall mean husband or wife as defined or recognized under State law for the purposes of 
marriage in the State where the employee resides.  

P. Twelve-Month Period shall mean, for purposes of leave under subparagraphs I.A. and I.B.2, the twelve 
months constituting the school year which begins August 1st and ends July 31st. For purposes of leave 
under subparagraph I.B.3. the term Twelve Month Period shall mean the first day the eligible employee 
takes FMLA leave to care for a covered servicemember and ends twelve months after that date. 

111



 
 
 
Related Policy and Rules: 4510 , 4510.1 , 4510.3 , 4510.5  
 
Legal Reference: Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, Pub. L. No. 103-3, 107 § 6 (1993); 29 U.S.C. § § 2601 to 2619; 
29 C.F.R. §§ 825.100 to 825.800; Nebraska Family Military Leave Act, Neb. Rev. § 55-501 to 55-507  
 
Date of Adoption: September 7, 1993  
 
Date of Revision: September 9, 1996, August 11, 2008, May 18, 2009. 
 
Date of Last Review: March 17, 2003 

112

http://www.mpsomaha.org/mps/index.cfm?action=309&id=447&pid=250
http://www.mpsomaha.org/mps/index.cfm?action=309&id=447&pid=251
http://www.mpsomaha.org/mps/index.cfm?action=309&id=447&pid=253
http://www.mpsomaha.org/mps/index.cfm?action=309&id=447&pid=255


AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
AGENDA ITEM:    Student Discipline: 5400.1 
 
MEETING DATE:     May 18, 2009 
 
DEPARTMENT:    Pupil Services 
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:  Student Discipline: When reasonably 

necessary to aid the students, further school 
purposes, or prevent interference with the 
educational process, the District sanctions 
students for particular behavior. The 
sanctions follow the District’s code of 
conduct as well as state and federal law. 

 
ACTION DESIRED:     X Approval  ___ Informational  
 
BACKGROUND:   Students who are disciplined have due 

process rights and all student discipline must 
meet the requirements set forth in the 
Nebraska Student Discipline Act. Language 
is being added to this rule to address the 
issue of sexual assault and the length of time 
a student may be sanctioned. 

 

OPTIONAL/ALTERNATIVE  
CONSIDERATIONS:    N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  Approve revisions to the Student Discipline 

Rule 5400.1. 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION 
OR REJECTION:  
 
TIMELINE:      
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:   Kraig J. Lofquist, Director of Pupil Services 
 
ASST. SUPERINTENDENT:                      ________________________________ 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:   ________________________________ 

113

sphelps
New Stamp



Pupil Services  
 
Student Discipline 5400.1 
 
 
I. General Statement  The District's disciplinary rules and procedures are designed to protect the students' 

constitutional and statutory rights within the context of an orderly and effective educational process.  Students 
will be excluded from school and/or school activities when their conduct interferes with an orderly and effective 
educational process. 

 
II. Types of Exclusion and Disciplinary Action. 
 

A. Short-term Suspension.  Exclusion from all schools in the District not to exceed five (5) school days.  
 
B. Emergency Exclusion.  Immediate exclusion if: 

 
1. The student has a dangerous communicable disease transmissible through normal school 

contacts and poses an imminent threat to the health and safety of the school community; or 
 

2. The student's conduct presents a clear threat to the physical safety of himself, herself, or 
others; or  

 
3. The student’s conduct is so extremely disruptive as to make temporary removal necessary to 

preserve the rights of other students to pursue an education.   
 
4. An emergency exclusion shall be based upon a clear factual situation warranting it and shall 

last no longer than is necessary to avoid the dangers necessitating the exclusion.  
 
5. Emergency Exclusion for Five (5) Days or Less.  The same procedures for short-term      

suspension shall be used for an emergency exclusion for five (5) days or less. 
 

6. Emergency Exclusion for Over Five (5) Days.  If the Superintendent or Superintendent’s 
designee determines that the exclusion will extend beyond five (5) days, the following      
procedural provisions must be followed: 

 
a. Hearing/Final Determination.  A hearing will be held and a final determination 

made within ten (10) school days after the initial date of exclusion.  
 

b. Hearing Procedures.  The hearing will be conducted in compliance with the 
disciplinary hearing procedures which are used for long-term suspension, expulsion 
and reassignment.  

 
C. Long-term Suspension.  Exclusion from all schools  in the District for more than five (5) school days 

but less than twenty (20) school days. 
 
D. Expulsion.  Exclusion from all schools in the District (except the location designated for alternative 

education) for a period not to exceed the remainder of the semester in which it took effect with the 
following exceptions: 

 
1. If the misconduct occurred within ten (10) school days prior to the end of the first semester, 

the expulsion shall remain in effect through the second semester; or 
 

2. If the misconduct occurred  within ten (10) school days prior to the end of the second 
semester, the expulsion shall remain in effect for summer school and the first semester of the 

114



following school year subject to the annual review provision of  Section IID (3) (c), below.   
 
3. The time periods above do not apply to the following infractions which have the following 

periods of exclusion: 
 

a.        Firearms and/or Guns.  Exclusion from all schools in the District for not less than 
one (1) year of any student who is determined to have knowingly and intentionally 
possessed, used, or transmitted a firearm (see Rule 5400.6 (II)(D)(1)) on school 
grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a school being used for a 
school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school 
employee or his or her designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event. 
This subsection shall not apply to: 

 
i. The issuance of firearms or the possession of firearms by members of the 

Reserve Officers Training Corps when training; or 
 
ii. Firearms which lawfully are possessed by the person receiving instruction 

under the immediate supervision of an adult instructor who may lawfully 
possess firearms. 

 
b. Personal Injury.  Students who knowingly and intentionally use force in causing or 

attempting to cause personal injury to a school employee, school volunteer, or 
student (unless caused by accident, self-defense, or other action undertaken on the 
reasonable belief that it was necessary to protect some other person as hereafter 
provided) or the knowing and intentional possession, use, or transmission of a 
dangerous weapon, other than a firearm, shall be excluded for a period not to 
exceed the remainder of the school year in which it took effect if the misconduct 
occurs during the first semester.  If the expulsion takes place during the second 
semester, the exclusion shall remain in effect for summer school and may remain in 
effect for the first semester of the following school year unless modified or 
terminated by the District at any time during the expulsion period.   Personal injury 
caused by accident, self-defense, or other action undertaken on the reasonable belief 
that it was necessary to protect some other person shall not constitute a violation of 
this provision.  
 

c. Sexual Assault.  Students who sexually assault or attempt  to sexually assault  any 
person on school grounds shall be excluded for one (1) year.  Students who sexually 
assault or attempt to sexually assault any person off school grounds may be 
excluded for one (1) year, provided  that a complaint must have been filed by a 
prosecutor in a court of competent jurisdiction alleging that the student has sexually 
assaulted or attempted to sexually assault any person off school grounds not at a 
school function, activity, or event, and the student’s presence at school has a direct 
and immediate effect on maintaining discipline, order, or safety in the school.  
Sexual assault shall mean sexual assault in the first degree as defined in Neb. Rev. 
Stat. § 28-319, sexual assault in the second degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. § 
28-320, sexual assault of a child in the second or third degree as defined in Neb. 
Rev. Stat. §28-320.01, or sexual assault of a child in the first degree as defined in 
Neb. Rev. Stat.§28-319.01, as such statutes now provide or may hereafter be 
amended.  Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-267(9).   

 
d. Annual Review.  Any expulsion that will remain in effect during the first semester 

of the following school year shall be automatically scheduled for review before the 
beginning of the school year.  The review shall be conducted by a Hearing          
Examiner after the Hearing Examiner has given notice of the review to the student 
and to the student's parents or guardian.  The review shall be limited to newly     

115



discovered evidence or evidence of changes in the student's circumstances 
occurring since the original hearing.  This review may lead to the Hearing 
Examiner's recommendation that the student be re-admitted for the upcoming 
school  year.  If the Board  (or Board Committee) took the final action to expel the 
student, the student may be re-admitted only by Board action.  Otherwise, the 
student may be re-admitted by the Superintendent. 

 
E. Mandatory Reassignment.  Involuntary transfer to another school in the District in connection with any 

disciplinary action. 
 
F. Exclusion from School Grounds and Activities.  During any time period that a student is excluded 

from school due to short-term suspension, long-term suspension, expulsion, or emergency exclusion, 
the student will be prohibited from being on school grounds (except the location designated for 
alternative education) and from participating in any District-sponsored extracurricular activities and 
from attending any extracurricular activities which take place on District property. 

 
G. Other Disciplinary Action.  Administrative and teaching personnel may take actions regarding student 

behavior which are reasonably necessary to aid the student, further school purposes, or prevent 
interference with the educational process.  Such actions may include, but need not be limited to, 
counseling of students, parent conferences, rearrangement of schedules, requirements that a student 
remain in school after regular hours to do additional work, restriction of extracurricular activity, or 
requirements that a student receive counseling, psychological evaluation, or psychiatric evaluation 
upon the written consent of a parent or guardian to such counseling or evaluation.  

 
III. Standards for Student Conduct (Rule 5400.6).  In conjunction with the Student Discipline Act, the District shall 

adopt Standards for Student Conduct contained in Rule 5400.6 that will set forth student misconduct and the 
maximum sanction that the District shall impose.  Rule 5400.6 shall be reviewed annually by the Board, and 
shall be distributed to students at the beginning of the school year or, in the case of student transfers, upon 
enrollment in the District. 

 
IV. Effective Date of Exclusion.  When a notice of intent to discipline a student by long-term suspension, expulsion, 

or mandatory reassignment is filed with the Superintendent, the student may be suspended by the principal until: 
 

A. If no hearing is requested, the date the disciplinary action takes effect; or 
 

B. If a hearing is requested, the date the Hearing Examiner makes the report of his/her findings and a 
recommendation of the action to be taken to the Superintendent, if  the principal determines that the 
student must be suspended immediately to prevent or substantially reduce the risk of interference with 
an educational function or school purpose, or a personal injury to the student himself or herself, other 
students, school employees, or school volunteers.  

 
VI. Procedures for Exclusion.  The District will adhere to the procedural requirements of federal and state law for 

the exclusion of students from school and school activities.   
 
VII. Hearings.  In cases involving emergency exclusion for more than five (5) school days, long-term suspension, 

expulsion, and mandatory reassignment, the student will have the right to a hearing to contest the exclusion. A 
Request for Hearing form will be provided to the student and the student's parents or guardian along with a 
description of the hearing procedures provided by the Student Discipline Act along with the procedures for 
appealing any decision rendered at the hearing.  

 
VIII. Formal Hearings and Appeal.  If a principal makes a decision to discipline a student by long-term suspension, 

expulsion, or mandatory reassignment, the following procedures shall be followed: 
 

A. Written Charge and Summary of Evidence. 
 

116



1. On the date of the decision, a written charge and a summary of the evidence supporting such 
charge shall be filed with the Superintendent or designee. 

 
2. The principal shall, within two (2) school days of the decision, send written notice by 

registered or certified mail to the student and his or her parent or guardian informing them of 
the rights established under the Student Discipline Act. 

 
B. Written Notice.  Written notice must include the violation and summary of evidence; the 

recommended penalty; the right to a hearing; the hearing procedure; and a statement that the principal, 
legal counsel for the school, the student, the student’s parent or the student’s representative or 
guardian shall have a right to examine the student’s academic and disciplinary records and any 
affidavits to be used at the hearing, plus the right to know the identity of the witnesses to appear at the 
hearing and the substance of their testimony.  A form on which the student, the student’s parent, or the 
student’s guardian may request a hearing must accompany the written notice. 

C. Suspension until Hearing.  When a notice of intent to discipline a student by long-term suspension, 
expulsion, or mandatory reassignment is filed with the Superintendent or designee, the student may be 
suspended by the principal until: 

 
1. The date the disciplinary action takes effect if no hearing is requested; 
 
2. If a hearing is requested, the date the hearing examiner makes the report of his/her findings 

and a recommendation of the action to be taken to the Superintendent or designee; or 
 

3. If the principal determines that the student must be suspended immediately to prevent or 
substantially reduce the risk of interference with an education function or school purpose or a 
personal injury to the student himself or herself, other students, school employees, or school 
volunteers. 

 
D. Procedures if a Hearing is not Requested.  If a hearing is not requested by the student or the student’s 

parent or guardian within five (5) school days following receipt of written notice, the punishment 
recommended in the charge by the principal or his/her designee will automatically go into effect upon 
the fifth (5th) school day following receipt of the written notice by the student or his/her parent or 
guardian. 

 
E. Procedures if a Hearing is Requested. 

 
1. Request for Hearing.  A hearing must be requested within five (5) school days after receipt of 

the written notice. 
 

a. Request of Hearing Beyond Five Days.  If a hearing is requested more than five (5) 
school days but not more than thirty (30) calendar days following the actual receipt 
of the written notice, the hearing shall be held but the imposed punishment shall 
continue in effect pending final determination. 

 
2. Appointment of Hearing Examiner.  If a hearing is requested the Superintendent shall appoint 

a hearing examiner.  The hearing examiner can be any person designated by the 
Superintendent or designee if such person has not brought the charges against the student, is 
not a witness at the hearing, and has no involvement in the charge. 

 
3. Notice of Time and Place for Hearing.  Within two (2) school days after being appointed, the 

hearing examiner shall give written notice to the principal, the student, and the student’s 
parent or guardian of the time and place for the hearing. 

 
a. The hearing shall be scheduled within a period of five (5) school days after it is 

requested, but such time may be changed by the hearing examiner for good cause. 

117



 
b. No hearing shall be held upon less than two (2) school days actual notice to the 

principal, the student, and the student’s parent or guardian, except with the consent 
of all the parties. 

 
4. Right to Examine Records and Statements.  The principal or legal counsel for the District,  

the student, and student’s parent or guardian, or representative, shall have the right to 
examine the records and written statements referred to Section VII (B) of this Rule, and the 
statement of any witness in the possession of the principal at a reasonable time prior to the 
hearing. 

 
F. Hearing Procedures. 

 
1. Required Attendance at Hearing.  The hearing examiner, student, student’s parent or 

guardian, the student’s representative, if any, and legal counsel for the principal or District, if 
any, shall attend the hearing. 

 
2. Witnesses.  When present, witnesses shall be present only when they are giving information 

at the hearing.  The student, the student’s parent, guardian, or representative, the principal, or 
the hearing examiner may ask witnesses to testify at the hearing.  Such testimony shall be 
under oath, and the hearing examiner shall be authorized to administer the oath.  The hearing 
examiner shall make reasonable effort to assist the student or the student’s parent, guardian, 
or representative in obtaining the attendance of the witnesses. 

 
a. Cross-examination.  The student, the student’s parent, guardian, or representative, 

the principal, the principal’s or the District’s legal counsel, and the hearing 
examiner shall have the right to question any witness giving information at the 
hearing. 

 
b. Immunity.  Any person giving evidence by written statement or in person at a 

hearing shall be given the same immunity from liability as a person testifying in a 
court case. 

 
3. Student Testimony.  The student may speak in his or her own defense and may be questioned 

on his or her testimony, but he or she may choose not to testify and, in such case, shall not be 
threatened with punishment nor be later punished for refusal to testify. 

 
4. Individuals may be Excluded from the Hearing.  The student may be excluded from the 

hearing in the discretion of the hearing examiner at times when the student’s psychological 
evaluation or emotional problems are being discussed.  The hearing examiner may exclude 
anyone from the hearing when his or her actions substantially disrupt an orderly hearing. 

 
5. Evidence on the Student’s Conduct and Records.  The principal may present to the hearing 

examiner statements, in affidavit form, of any person having information about the student’s 
conduct and the student’s records, provided that such statements and records have been made 
available to the student or the student’s parent, guardian, or representative prior to the 
hearing.  The information contained in such records shall be explained and interpreted, prior 
to or at the hearing, to the student, parent or guardian, or representative, upon request, by 
appropriate District personnel. 

 
6. Rules of Evidence.  In conducting the hearing, the hearing examiner shall not be bound by 

the rules of evidence or any other rule of courtroom procedure. 
 
 

7. Proceedings Recorded.  The proceedings of the hearing shall be recorded at the expense of 

118



the District. 
 

8. Joint Hearings.  A joint hearing may be conducted when more than one (1) student is charged 
with violating the same rule and acted in concert, and the facts are substantially the same for 
all such students. 

 
a. Discretion of Hearing Examiner.  A joint hearing may be conducted if the hearing 

examiner believes that a joint hearing is not likely to result in confusion and no 
student shall have his or her interests substantially prejudiced by a single hearing. 

 
b. Order for Separate Hearing.  If during the conduct of the hearing the hearing 

examiner finds that a student’s interests will be substantially prejudiced by a joint 
hearing or that the hearing is resulting in confusion, the hearing examiner may order 
a separate hearing for any student. 

 
G. Post Hearing Report.  After the hearing, a report shall be made by the hearing examiner to the 

Superintendent or designee.  The report shall contain the hearing examiner’s findings and 
recommendation of the action to be taken, and the report shall explain in terms of the needs of both the 
student and the District, the reasons for the particular action recommended. 

 
1. Range of Recommendations.  The recommendation by the hearing examiner may range from 

no action, through the entire field of counseling, to long-term suspension, expulsion, 
mandatory reassignment, or an alternative education placement. 

 
2. Review by Superintendent or Designee.  A review of the hearing examiner’s report shall be 

made by the Superintendent or designee.  The Superintendent or designee may change, 
revoke, or impose the sanction recommended by the hearing examiner but shall not impose a 
sanction more severe than that recommended by the hearing examiner. 

 
3. Decisions Based on Evidence.  The findings and recommendations of the hearing examiner, 

the determination by the Superintendent, and any determination on appeal to the Board, shall 
be made solely on the basis of the evidence presented at the hearing or, in addition, on any 
evidence presented on appeal. 

 
H. Final Disposition.  Written notice of the findings and recommendations of the hearing examiner and 

the determination of the Superintendent or designee shall be made by certified or registered mail or by 
personal delivery to the student or the student’s parent or guardian.  Upon receipt of such written 
notice by the student, parent, or guardian, the determination of the Superintendent or designee shall 
take immediate effect. 

 
IX. Request for Appeal to the Board.  The student or the student’s parent or guardian may, within seven (7) school 

days following receipt of the Superintendent’s written notice of the determination, appeal the determination to 
the Board by a written request which shall be filed with the secretary of the Board or with the Superintendent.  

 
A. Appeal Hearing. 
 

1. When.  A hearing shall be held before the Board within a period of ten (10) school days after 
it is requested, and such time for a hearing may be changed by mutual agreement of the 
student and Superintendent. 

 
2.   Deliberating Body.  The hearing may be held before a committee of the  Board of not less 

than three (3) members.  
 

3. Admissible Evidence.  Such appeal shall be made on the record, except that new evidence 
may be admitted to avoid a substantial threat of unfairness and such new evidence shall be 

119



recorded at the expense of the District.  
 
4. Deliberation.  After examining the record and taking new evidence, if any, the Board or 

designated committee may withdraw to deliberate privately upon such record and new 
evidence. 

 
a. Limitations.  Any such deliberation shall be held in the presence only of Board 

members in attendance at the appeal proceeding but may be held in the presence of 
legal counsel who has not previously acted as the designee of the principal in 
presenting the school’s case before the hearing examiner.  

 
b. Questions during Deliberation.  If any questions arise during such deliberations 

which require additional evidence, the deliberating body may reopen the hearing to 
receive such evidence, subject to the right of all parties to be present.  

 
5. Action on Appeal.  The deliberating body may alter the Superintendent’s disposition of the 

case if it finds the decision to be too severe but may not impose a more severe sanction. 
 

6. Dispatch of Final Action.  The final action of the deliberating body shall be evidenced by 
personally delivering or mailing by certified mail a copy of the deliberating body’s decision 
to the student and his or her parent or guardian. 

 
B. Judicial Review.  Any person aggrieved by a final decision in a contested case under this Rule, 

whether such decision is affirmative or negative in form, shall be entitled to judicial review.  Nothing 
in the Rule shall be deemed to prevent resort to other means of review, redress, or relief provided by 
law. 

 
X. Settlement.  Nothing in this Rule shall preclude the student, the student's parents, guardian, or                      

representative from discussing and settling disciplinary proceedings with appropriate school personnel prior to 
the hearing stage. 

 
XI. Reporting of Criminal Acts to Law Enforcement Agencies.  The school principal or principal's designee shall 

notify as soon as possible the appropriate law enforcement authorities of any student act which the principal or 
principal's designee knows or suspects is in violation of the Nebraska Criminal Code.  

 
XII. Annual Report to State Department of Education.  The Superintendent or Superintendent's designee shall   

annually provide to the State Department of Education: 
 

A. An assurance that the District has in effect the expulsion policy for bringing a firearm to school 
required by state and federal law; and 

 
B. A description of the circumstances surrounding any expulsions imposed under this Rule, including: the 

name of the school concerned; the number of students expelled from such school; and the types of 
weapons concerned. 

Legal Reference: 20 U.S.C. § 5812 (7) 
20 U.S.C. § 5961 et seq. 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-1204.04  

  Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-254 et seq.  
Title 92, Nebraska Administrative Code, Chapter 17-004. 
 

Related Rule:  5300.1, 5300.2, 5400.2, 5400.3, 5400.4, 5400.5, 5400.6, 5410.1, 5420.1 
 
Rule Approved: June  3, 1996         
Revised:  June 1, 1998; September 25, 2000; March 15, 2004; May 18, 2009                                  Millard Public Schools 

120



Reaffirmed: August 4, 2008            Omaha, NE  

121



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
AGENDA ITEM:    Standards for Student Conduct 
 
MEETING DATE:     May 18, 2009 
 
DEPARTMENT:    Pupil Services 
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:   
 
ACTION DESIRED:     X Approval  ___ Informational  
 

BACKGROUND:   The Standards for Student Conduct 
delineates the behavior that is expected of 
all students. Changes are being made to 
address several items including the 
possession and distribution of “prescribed 
medication” and “nuisance items”. 

 
OPTIONAL/ALTERNATIVE  
CONSIDERATIONS:    N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:    Approve revisions to the Standards for  
      Student Conduct. 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION 
OR REJECTION:  The student code of conduct is printed and 

distributed to each student via student 
handbooks. Rejecting the code of conduct 
will delay the printing of the student 
handbooks. 

 
TIMELINE:      
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:   Kraig J. Lofquist, Director of Pupil Services 
 
ASST. SUPERINTENDENT:                      ________________________________ 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:   _________________________________ 
 
 
 

122

sphelps
New Stamp



Pupil Services 
 
Standards for Student Conduct 5400.6 
 
I. Introduction. 

A. Policy Statement.  Every Millard School District student has the right to an education.  The following Standards 
have been instituted to ensure that right.  Each student and their parents are required, on their own, to become 
familiar with these Standards, and to help provide an atmosphere conducive to learning. 

B. Grounds for Exclusion.  A student may be excluded from school if there is reasonable evidence that the student has 
committed a prohibited act listed below while on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a 
school being used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or by 
his or her designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event, or any other place where the governing law 
permits the District to discipline students for prohibited conduct. 

C. Exclusion from School Grounds and Activities.  A student who is excluded from school for a suspension or 
expulsion shall not enter upon district property, or ride in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by the District 
being used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her 
designee, or participate in or attend a school-sponsored activity or athletic event.  Expelled students may enter upon 
District property for the sole purpose of attending alternative education at a location and time designated by the 
Director of Pupil Services. 

D. Length of Expulsions.  Unless specified otherwise within these Standards, the expulsion of a student shall be for a 
period not to exceed the remainder of the semester in which it took effect unless the misconduct occurred within ten 
(10) school days prior to the end of the first semester, in which case the expulsion shall remain in effect through the 
second semester, or within ten (10) school days prior to the end of the second semester, in which case the expulsion 
shall remain in effect for summer school and the first semester of the following school year.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-
283(2). 

E. Contact of Legal Authorities.  The principal of a school or the principal’s designee shall notify as soon as possible 
the appropriate law enforcement authorities, of the county or city in which the school is located, of any act of a 
student described in Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267 which the principal or designee knows or suspects is a violation of the 
Nebraska Criminal Code. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-293(1).  

F. Sanction to be Followed.  If minimum and maximum sanctions are not specified for a specific prohibited act, the 
recommended sanction shall be imposed.  

G. Expulsion as Sanction. Expulsion is specified as a sanction for particular conduct because the District’s Board of 
Education finds that the type of conduct for which expulsion is specified has the potential to seriously affect the 
health, safety, or welfare of the student, other students, staff members, or other persons, or to otherwise seriously 
interfere with the educational process. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-262(1). 

H. Students with Disabilities.  Disciplinary procedures for students who have disabilities as defined by the Individuals 
with Disabilities Education Act and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 shall be subject to the disciplinary 
procedures set forth in District rules 5400.2 and 5400.3 and applicable federal and state law.   

I. Mandatory Compliance.  Students and their parent(s) or guardian(s) are hereby notified that compliance with the 
District’s Standards for Student Conduct is mandatory.  It is the responsibility of all students and their parent(s) or 
guardian(s) to become familiar with these Standards. 

II. Violations Against Persons. 

A. Use of Violence.  Use of violence, force, coercion, threat, intimidation or similar conduct in a manner that 
constitutes a substantial interference with school purposes. 

1. Pushing, Shoving or Related Noninjurious Behaviors. 

a. Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

2. Fighting.  Mutual attempt to physically harm another person through mutual combative physical contact.  

123



a. First offense. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade six 
(6). 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension.  

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 79-267(1) 
and 293. 

b. Two offenses or more. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion.  

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) 
and 293. 

3. Physical Assault.  Initiation of a violent act against another person through aggressive physical contact.  

a. Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade six (6). 

b. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion. 

c. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) and 293. 

B. Physical Injury to District Employees, Volunteers, and Students.  Causing or attempting to cause personal injury to 
an employee, a school volunteer, or to any student.  Personal injury caused by accident, self-defense, or other action 
undertaken on the reasonable belief that it was necessary to protect some other person shall not constitute a violation 
of this provision. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(3). 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension.   

b. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(3) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds.  

a. First Offense. Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has 
violated subsection II(B). Suspension from extracurricular activities for remainder of the semester 
or nineteen (19) school days, whichever is more. 

b. Second Offense. Suspension for extracurricular activities for one (1) year. Prior violations of II(B) 
on or off school grounds will be included as previous offenses. 

C. Use of Threats or Intimidation. 

1. Use of Threats (Verbal and Written).  All threats, including those alleged to be jokes, will always be taken 
seriously and are subject to the following disciplinary action. 

a. Level One Threat.  Using a threat as part of a common expression or in a context that the recipient 
does not feel threatened, frightened, or coerced (e.g., “Oh, I could just kill you for that” or “I will 
punch you in the nose”). 

124



(1) Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

b. Level Two Threat.  Using an expression or an implied or veiled threat with the intent of 
threatening, frightening, or coercing another and the recipient feels threatened, frightened, or 
coerced (e.g., “I will kill you.”). 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade four 
(4). 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) 
and 293. 

c. Level Three Threat.  Threatening to kill or injure another person or threatening to damage property 
with potential for personal injury, without possessing a weapon or other object that could kill or 
injure the threatened or intimidated person, and the student describes how it will be done, 
including any threats that concern dangerous chemical substances, biochemical attacks, or 
bioterrorism. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade four 
(4). 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion. 

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) 
and 293. 

d. Threatening with an Object.  Threatening with an object which looks like a weapon or an object 
that could be used to injure someone.  To qualify as a look-a-like weapon, the object must closely 
resemble a real weapon in size, shape, and color even when examined up close. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of the suspension. 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion. 

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) 
and 293. 

2. Bomb Threat (Verbal or Written).  Threatening to use any type of explosive or incendiary device generally 
referred to as a bomb to injure a person(s) or destroy property.   

a. Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion.  

b. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-1221; Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §§79-267(1) and 293. 

D. Firearms, Explosives, and Weapons. 

1. Guns, etc.  Knowingly possessing, handling, transmitting, using, intimidating with, or threatening with any 
object or material that is ordinarily and/or generally considered a firearm, explosive, destructive device, or 
weapon, including, but not limited to, guns, firearms, pipe bombs, stun guns, paint ball guns, air soft guns, 
B.B. guns and pellet guns. 

 

125



a. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory expulsion for one (1) year.  Suspension from 
extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

(2) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-1202 to 
1204.04, 1215, 1216 and: 1220 Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267 (5) and 293. 

b. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

(1) Citation for illegal possession of a weapon during academic school year or the student 
admits that he or she has violated subsection II(D).  Suspension from extracurricular 
activities for one (1) year.   

2. Other Weapons.  Using or threatening with a knife, throwing star, brass knuckles, chemical substances 
(including, but not limited to, mace, pepper guns, and bleach), and any other object that could be used to 
injure a person.  

a. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of expulsion. 

(2) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-1202 to 
1204.04; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267 (5) and 293. 

b. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

(1) Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has violated 
subsection II(D).  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year. 

3. Possession of Certain Prohibited Objects.  Knowingly possessing, handling, or transmitting knives, 
throwing stars, brass knuckles, or other objects not enumerated above which could cause injury. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

b. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

4. Possession of Look-a-Like Weapons.  Possessing a look-a-like weapon, the object must closely resemble a 
real weapon in size, shape, and color even when examined up close. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

b. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

5. Exception for Certain Firearms.  Subsection II(D) shall not apply to:  

a. The issuance of firearms to or possession of firearms by members of the Reserve Officers Training 
Corps when training; or  

b. Firearms which may lawfully be possessed by the person receiving instruction under the 
immediate supervision of an adult instructor who may lawfully possess firearms.  

c. Firearms and guns which may lawfully be possessed and used off school grounds, not at a school 
function, activity, or event. 

E. Extortion.  Threatening or intimidating any student for the purpose of or with the intent of obtaining money or 
anything of value from such student. 

126



1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

2. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(4) and 293. 

F. Sexual Assault or Attempted Sexual Assault.  Any sexual assault or attempt to sexually assault any person.  Sexual 
assault shall mean sexual assault in the first or second degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-319 and 320 or 
sexual assault of a child in the first, second or third degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-319.01 and 320.01.  
Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(9). 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory expulsion for one (1) year. Suspension from extracurricular 
activities for one (1) year during time of expulsion.   

b. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(9) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  

b. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion for one (1) year.  A complaint must have been filed by a 
prosecutor in a court of competent jurisdiction alleging that the student has sexually assaulted or 
attempted to sexually assault any person off school grounds not at a school function, activity, or 
event, and the student’s presence at school has a direct and immediate effect on maintaining 
discipline, order, or safety in the school.  Sexual assault shall mean sexual assault in the first 
degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-319, sexual assault in the second degree as defined in 
Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-320, sexual assault of a child in the second or third degree as defined in Neb. 
Rev. Stat. §28-320.01, or sexual assault of a child in the first degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§28-319.01, as such statutes now provide or may hereafter be amended  Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-
267(9). 

G. Sexual Contact.  The intentional touching of another person’s sexual or intimate parts or the intentional touching of 
another person’s clothing covering the immediate area of the other person’s sexual or intimate parts, without the 
consent of the other person.  Sexual contact also includes the non-consensual touching by the other person of the 
actor’s sexual or intimate parts or the clothing covering the immediate area of the actor’s sexual or intimate parts 
when such touching is intentionally caused by the actor.  The sexual contact must be such that it can be reasonably 
construed as being for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification of either party.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-318 and 
320. 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension.   

b. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.   

c. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities must be contacted upon the request of the offended party.  
Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

a. Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection 
II(G).  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year. 

H. Sexual Harassment.  Unwanted or unwelcome activity of a sexual nature which materially interferes with or 
substantially disrupts the educational process.  This may include, but is not limited to, unwanted touching, pinching, 
patting, verbal comments of a sexual nature, sexual name-calling, pressure to engage in sexual activity, repeated 
propositions, written messages, notes, cartoons or graffiti of a sexual nature, and unwanted body contact. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.   

 

127



I. Harassment.  Any intentionally hurtful, demeaning, or disparaging acts, words, symbolic representations, or 
behavior used by a student or students against another student or students that is disruptive of the educational 
process.  This includes, but is not limited to, verbal, physical, visual, or graphic actions such as name-calling, 
taunting, mocking, slandering, humiliating, defaming, teasing, pestering; and making derogatory remarks, 
demeaning jokes, disparaging drawings or notes. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

J. Bullying.  Any intentionally hostile or offensive verbal, written, graphic, demonstrative, or physical act that has the 
purpose of exerting domination over another student through the act of intimidating, frightening, oppressing, or 
adversely controlling the student, and that is disruptive of the educational process or any ongoing pattern of 
physical, verbal, written, graphic, demonstrative or electronic abuse, on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, 
or contracted by a school being used for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her designee, or at school-
sponsored activities or school-sponsored athletic events.  This may include, but is not limited to, verbal, graphic, 
written or electronic activities such as name-calling, taunting, blackmailing, inciting to fight, terrorizing, or physical 
or demonstrative activities such as poking, blocking or impeding, following, hair pulling, mock hitting motions, 
intentionally bumping, tripping, and damaging clothing. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

K. Hazing. Any activity by which a person intentionally or recklessly endangers the physical or mental health or safety 
of an individual for the purpose of initiation into, admission into, affiliation with, or continued membership with or 
participation in any group or activity. Such hazing activity shall include, but shall not be limited to the following: 
whipping; beating; branding; forced and prolonged calisthenics; prolonged exposure to the elements; forced 
consumption of any food, liquor, beverage, drug, or harmful substance not generally intended for human 
consumption; prolonged sleep deprivation; harassing by exacting unnecessary or disagreeable work, banter, ridicule, 
or criticism; or any brutal treatment or the performance of any unlawful act which endangers the physical or mental 
health or safety of any person. Consent to the hazing by the student(s) shall not be a defense to hazing. 

1. Maximum Sanction. Expulsion. Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

III. Violations Against Public Health and Safety. 

A. Possession of Alcohol or other Drugs.  Possession or use of an illegal narcotic drug, controlled substance, mood-
altering or behavior-affecting substance, or look-a-like substance, or possession or use of a prescribed medication by 
a student for whom the prescribed medication was not prescribed; or possession or use of drug paraphernalia.  
Possession or use of alcohol or an alcohol-containing beverage or liquor capable of human consumption. 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds.  

a. First Offense.  Suspension for nineteen (19) school days.  Suspension from extracurricular 
activities while not in school due to the suspension.  Parents, at their own expense, may choose to 
participate in a District-approved suspension reduction program.  Successful completion of this 
program may reduce the suspension and curtailment of extracurricular activities by a maximum of 
nine (9) school days (results in a total of ten (10) days out of school).   

b. Second Offense. Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.  Prior violations of subsection III(A) on or off school grounds will be included as 
previous offenses. 

c. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(6) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

a. Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection 
III(A).  Curtailment of extracurricular activities for nineteen (19) school days.  

(1) First Offense.  Parents, at their own expense, may choose to participate in a District-
approved suspension reduction program.  Successful completion of this program may 
reduce the curtailment of extracurricular activities by a maximum of nine (9) school 
days (results in a total of ten (10) school days curtailment of extracurricular activities).  
Previous offenses of subsection III(A) on or off school grounds during the current 

128



academic school year would not allow participation in this option. 

(2) Second Offense. Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.   

B. Distribution of Alcohol or other Drugs.  Distribution or attempted distribution to any other person, of any illegal 
narcotic drug, controlled substance, look-a-like substance, mood-altering or behavior affecting substance, drug 
paraphernalia, or alcohol. 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. First Offense.  Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.  

b. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(6) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

a. Citation during academic school or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection III(B).  
Curtailment of extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  

C. Possession, Use and Transportation of Medications.  The possession, use, and transportation of prescribed and non-
prescribed medications shall be in accordance with the following rules. 

1. Possession of Medications (Preschool and Elementary Levels).  Possession of prescribed or non-prescribed 
medications, or possession of prescribed or non-prescribed medications on school grounds during 
transportation to and from school, is prohibited.  Elementary school students may possess and use inhalers, 
as well as glucose tablets, according to the provisions of rule 5600.2. 

a. First Offense.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

b. Second Offense.   

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion. 

2. Possession of Medications (Middle School Level).  Possession of prescribed or non-prescribed 
medications, or possession of prescribed medications on school grounds during transportation to and from 
school, is prohibited.  Middle school students may transport non-prescribed medications to and from school 
but must turn it into the nurse upon arrival at school.  Middle school students may possess and use inhalers, 
as well as glucose tablets, according to the provisions of rule 5600.2. 

a. First Offense.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

b. Second Offense.   

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion. 

3. Possession of Medications (High School Level).  Possession of prescribed medications is prohibited.  High 
school students may possess non-prescribed medications, but they may not possess prescribed medications 
except in transport to and from school.  Prescribed medications must be turned into the nurse upon arrival 
at school.  High school students may possess and use glucose tablets and inhalers according to the 
provisions of rule 5600.2. 

 

129



a. First Offense.   

(1) Maximum Sanction Long Short-term suspension. Suspension from extracurricular 
activities during time of suspension. 

b. Second Offense.   

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension. Mandatory Expulsion. Suspension from 
extracurricular activities during time of suspension expulsion. 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion. 

D. Distribution of Prescribed Medications.  Distribution or attempted distribution to any other person, of any prescribed 
medication. 

1. First Offense.  Suspension for nineteen (19) school days.  Suspension from extracurricular activities while 
not in school due to the suspension.  Parents, at their own expense, may choose to participate in a District-
approved suspension reduction program that in part must offer instruction on the dangers of abusing 
medications.  Successful completion of this program may reduce the suspension and curtailment of 
extracurricular activities by a maximum of nine (9) school days (results in a total of ten (10) days out of 
school). 

2. Second Offense.  Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.   

3. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(6) and 293. 

E. Distribution of Non-Prescribed Medications.  Distribution or attempted distribution to any other person, of any non-
prescribed medication. 

1. First Offense.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

2. Second Offense.   

a. Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

b. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion. 

F. Receiving Non-Prescribed Medications.  Receiving non-prescription medications by high school students that are 
distributed by another student at school. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension.   

G. Under the Influence of Alcohol or Other Drugs.  Being intoxicated or under the influence of any illegal narcotic 
drug, controlled substance, prescribed medication by a student for whom the prescribed medication was not 
prescribed, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, or alcohol. 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. First Offense.  Suspension for nineteen (19) school days.  Suspension from extracurricular 
activities while not in school due to the suspension.  Parents, at their own expense, may choose to 
participate in a District-approved suspension reduction program.  Successful completion of this 
program may reduce the suspension and curtailment of extracurricular activities by a maximum of 
nine (9) school days (results in a total of ten (10) days out of school). 

b. Second Offense. Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.  Prior violations of subsection III (G) on or off school grounds will be included as 
previous offenses. 

130



c. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(6) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds.   

a. Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection 
III(G).  Curtailment of extracurricular activities for nineteen (19) school days.  

(1) First Offense.  Parents, at their own expense, may choose to participate in a District-
approved suspension reduction program.  Successful completion of this program may 
reduce the curtailment of extracurricular activities by a maximum of nine (9) school 
days (results in a total of ten (10) school days curtailment of extracurricular activities).  
Previous offenses of subsection III(G) on or off school grounds during the current 
academic school year would not allow participation in this option.  

(2) Second Offense.  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.   

H. Exposure to Bodily Fluids.  Intentionally spitting, throwing, wiping, or otherwise dispersing bodily fluids on or to 
another student or staff member for the purpose of infecting, inciting, demeaning, or intimidating that person. 

1. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

2. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

I. Tobacco.  Possession or use of tobacco or tobacco products. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

J. Possession of Fireworks. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

K. Use of Fireworks.  Use or lighting of firecrackers or fireworks of any description. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

IV. Violations against Public Decency and Good Morals. 

A. Public Indecency.  Behavior resulting in public indecency (see definition). This subsection shall apply only to 
students above grade five (5).  Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(7). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

B. Profanity and Obscenity.  Written or oral language that is reasonably offensive or repulsive to the person hearing the 
same and which is disruptive of the educational process. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

C. Disparaging Language/Symbolism.  Disparaging or demeaning language or symbolic actions of any kind including, 
but not limited to gestures or language that is intended to disparage, demean, or subject another student or staff 
member to ridicule. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

D. Secret Organizations/Gangs. Participation or membership in any secret fraternity, sorority, club, association, or 
organization is prohibited. The wearing of any ring, pin, or insignia of such a secret organization is also prohibited. 
Organizations or gangs, which initiate, advocate, or promote violence, drug or alcohol use, sex, criminal activity, or 
activities which disrupt the school environment or threaten the safety or well being of persons or geographic 
territory, unique appearance, or language, are a substantial disruption to and material interference with the 
educational environment, and are prohibited. The use of hand signals, graffiti, or the presence of any apparel, 

131



jewelry, accessory, or manner of grooming which, by virtue of its color, arrangement, trademark, symbol, or other 
attributes indicates or implies membership in or affiliation with such a group, constitutes a substantial disruption to 
and material interference with the educational environment, and are prohibited. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

V. Violations against Property. 

A. Damage to Property.  Willfully causing or attempting to cause substantial damage to property, or repeated damage to 
property.  This shall include school property lent to the student which the student damages.  As to any such damaged 
property, the student’s parent(s) or guardian(s) shall be liable for the damage to the school property. Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§79-267(2). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

2. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted when the value of the property is five-hundred 
dollars ($500.00) or more.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-519; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(2) and 293. 

B. Theft/Larceny.  Stealing or attempting to steal property, or repeated theft of property.  This will include school 
property lent to a student that is not returned upon demand by an authorized staff member and for which there is no 
reasonable justification for the failure to return the property. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(2). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

2. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted when the value of the property involved is two 
hundred dollars ($200.00) or more. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-511 and 518; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(2) and 
293. 

3. Sanctions off School Grounds.  Committing burglary or theft which constitutes a felony provided the 
student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this 
subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection V(B).  Suspension from 
extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  

C. Arson or False Fire Alarm.  Intentionally starting a fire. Use of any fire causing agents to start or attempt to start a 
fire.  Purposely or knowingly causing a false fire alarm.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-502 to 504 and 907; Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§79-267(10). 

1. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade six (6). 

2. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

3. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted if it is believed the arson was criminal.  Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §§28-502 to 504 and 907; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(10) and 293. 

D. False Alarm or Report.  Purposely making a false alarm or false report, or purposely furnishing false information or 
making a false communication or statement, whether verbal, written or electronic, concerning the existence of any 
bomb, explosive device or weapon, dangerous chemical substance, or biochemical or terroristic device, or 
concerning another’s intent or attempt to be made to kill, injure, or intimidate any individual or to use any bomb, 
explosive device, or weapon, dangerous chemical substance, or biochemical or terroristic device, or concerning the 
need for medical, police, or emergency services or procedures.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-907 and 1221; Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§79-267(10). 

1. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

2. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

3. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-907 and 1221; Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §§79-267(10) and 293. 

E. Computers.  Direct or indirect use of District computers, computer networks, or computer systems, which involves 
offensive, personal, commercial, and/or religious messages, or any unauthorized access or use of a District 

132



computer, computer network, or computer system which violates District policy or state or federal law.  Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §§28-1341 to 1348; Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(10). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

2. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted if the action constitutes a felony.  Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§§28-1341 to 1348; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(10) and 293. 

VI. Violations against School Administration. 

A. Truancy.  Unauthorized absence from school. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-201 and 209.  

1. Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension.  

B. Gambling.  Playing any game of chance for money or other stakes. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(10 ). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

C. Dishonesty.  Dishonesty that interferes with the educational process.  

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

D. Cheating or Plagiarism.  Cheating on examinations including but not limited to ELO examinations.  Plagiarism on 
projects including but not limited to reports, research papers, and portfolios. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

E. Insubordination.  Disrespect for, defying authority of, or refusing to obey requests or directions of teachers, school 
officials or school employees. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

F. Disruptive Behavior.  Behavior or possession of any item that materially interferes with or substantially disrupts 
class work, school activities, or the educational process. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

G. Nuisance Items.  Any item in a student’s possession that is sufficiently annoying, offensive, unpleasant, or 
obnoxious that it substantially interferes with or materially interrupts the educational process.  These items may 
include, but are not limited to radios, camera cell phones, beepers, walkie-talkies, tape and CD players, Ipods, MP3 
players, cameras, devices that emit laser light beams, and other electronic devices. 

1. Maximum Sanction. Expulsion Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

H. Unlawful Activity.  Engaging in any unlawful activity not specifically covered herein, which constitutes a danger to 
other students or school personnel, or interferes with school purposes or the educational process. Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§79-267(10). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

I. False Complaints.  False accusations or complaints against another student or staff member. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

J. Noncompliance with Code Yellow or Code Red.  Intentionally leaving an assigned area already in containment 
during a Code Yellow or Code Red alert unless specifically given permission to do so by the supervisor of the 
assigned area. 

1. Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 

133



suspension. 

2. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

K. Student Identification.  Failure of a high school student to present the school approved student identification card 
upon the request of a District staff member while on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a 
school being used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or by 
his or her designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

VII. Repeated Offenses or Series of Prohibited Conduct. 

A. Two (2) or more violations of prohibited conduct or violation of two (2) or more of the acts prohibited herein within 
the academic school year which constitute a substantial interference with school purposes. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-
267(11). 

1. Sanction.  Unless otherwise provided herein, prohibited conduct otherwise subject to short-term suspension 
shall be subject to long-term suspension; conduct otherwise subject to long-term suspension shall be 
subject to expulsion; prohibited conduct initially subject to expulsion shall be again subject to expulsion. 

VIII. Curtailment of Extracurricular Activities. 

A. General Statement.  When reasonably necessary to aid the student, further school purposes, or prevent interference 
with the educational process, the District shall curtail a student’s participation in District extracurricular activities.  
Students shall not be permitted to be on District property or participate in or attend District-sponsored 
extracurricular activities during the time period that the student is excluded from school for disciplinary reasons.  In 
addition, students may be curtailed from extracurricular activities for misconduct taking place off school grounds 
and not at a school function, activity, or event during the academic school year pursuant to the provisions of this 
section and Rule 5400.4.  

B. Period of Ineligibility for Conduct on School Grounds. 

1. Period of Ineligibility.  During any time period that a student is excluded from school due to short-term 
suspension, long-term suspension, expulsion, or emergency exclusion for conduct occurring on school 
grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a school being used for a school purpose or in a 
vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or by his or her designee, or at a school-
sponsored activity or athletic event, or any other place where the governing law permits the District to 
discipline students for prohibited conduct, the student so excluded shall also be ineligible for participation 
in extracurricular activities for the entire period of exclusion, and will also be prohibited from being on 
District property or attending any District-sponsored extracurricular events during the period of exclusion 
from school.  

2. Effective Following Semester if Necessary.  The ineligibility period shall remain in effect during the 
following semester (including the following school year) if there are insufficient school days in the 
semester to complete the ineligibility period.  

C. Period of Ineligibility for Conduct off School Grounds.  The following prohibited conduct occurring off school 
grounds not at a school function, activity, or event during the academic school year shall subject the student to the 
following periods of ineligibility for extracurricular activities: 

1. Guns, etc.  Knowingly possessing, handling, transmitting, using, intimidating with, or threatening with any 
object or material that is ordinarily and/or generally considered a firearm, explosive, destructive device, or 
weapon, including, but not limited to, guns, firearms, pipe bombs, stun guns, paint ball guns, air soft guns, 
B.B. guns and pellet guns, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which 
involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated this 
subsection. 

a. Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.   

2. Other Weapons.  Using or threatening with a knife, throwing star, brass knuckles, chemical substances 

134



(including, but not limited to, mace, pepper guns, and bleach), and any other object that could be used to 
injure a person, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves 
the offense subject to this subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated this subsection. 

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

3. Sexual Contact.  The intentional touching of another person’s sexual or intimate parts or the intentional 
touching of another person’s clothing covering the immediate area of the other person’s sexual or intimate 
parts, without the consent of the other person.  Sexual contact also includes the non-consensual touching by 
the other person of the actor’s sexual or intimate parts or the clothing covering the immediate area of the 
actor’s sexual or intimate parts when such touching is intentionally caused by the actor provided the student 
has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this subsection or 
the student admits that he or she has violated this subsection. 

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

4. Possession of Alcohol or other Drugs.  The use or possession of an illegal narcotic drug, drug 
paraphernalia, look-a-like substance, controlled substance, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, 
or alcoholic beverage, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which 
involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated this 
subsection. 

a. First Offense.  Ineligibility period of nineteen (19) school days.  Parents, at their own expense, 
may choose to participate in a District-approved suspension reduction program.  Successful 
completion of this program may reduce the curtailment of extracurricular activities a maximum of 
nine (9) school days (results in a total of ten (10) school days curtailment of extracurricular 
activities). 

b. Second Offense.  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  Prior violations of 
subsection III(A) on or off school grounds will be included as previous offenses. 

5. Distribution of Alcohol or other Drugs.  The dispensing, sale, or the intent to sell or dispense an illegal 
narcotic drug, look-a-like substance, controlled substance, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, 
or alcoholic beverage, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which 
involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated this 
subsection.   

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

6. Under the Influence of Alcohol or other Drugs.  Being intoxicated or under the influence of any illegal 
narcotic drug, controlled substance, prescribed medication by a student for whom the prescribed medication 
was not prescribed, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, or alcohol, provided the student has 
received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this subsection or the 
student admits that he or she has violated this subsection. 

a. First Offense.  Ineligibility period of nineteen (19) school days.  Parents, at their own expense, 
may choose to participate in a District-approved suspension reduction program.  Successful 
completion of this program may reduce the curtailment of extracurricular activities a maximum of 
nine (9) school days (results in a total of ten (10) school days curtailment of extracurricular 
activities). 

b. Second Offense. Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  Prior violations of 
subsection III(G) on or off school grounds will be included as previous offenses. 

7. Physical Injury to District Employees, Volunteers, and Students.  Causing or attempting to cause personal 
injury to any District employee, school volunteer, or to any student, provided the student has received a 
citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student 
admits that he or she has violated this subsection.  

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of remainder of the semester or nineteen (19) school days, 
whichever is more.  

135



b. Second Offense.  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  Prior violations of 
subsection II(B) on or off school grounds will be included as previous offenses. 

8. Sexual Assault or Attempted Sexual Assault.  Sexually assaulting or attempting to sexually assault any 
person, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the 
offense subject to this subsection, the student admits that he or she has violated this subsection, or a 
complaint has been filed by a prosecutor in a court of competent jurisdiction alleging that the student has 
sexually assaulted or attempted to sexually assault any person.   

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

9. Theft/Larceny.  Committing a burglary or theft that constitutes a felony, provided the student has received a 
citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student 
admits that he or she has violated this subsection.  

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

10. Repeated Offenses.  Two (2) or more offenses of one (1) of the above prohibited actions.  Prior offenses of 
the above prohibited actions will be included as previous offenses. 

a. Sanction:  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

D. District Events During Ineligibility Period.  Students who are ineligible for participation in extracurricular activities 
will also be prohibited from attending any District-sponsored extracurricular events during the ineligibility period. 

E. Effective Following Semester if Necessary.  The ineligibility period shall remain in effect during the following 
semester (including the following school year) if there are insufficient school days in the semester to complete the 
ineligibility period. 

F. Commutation.  Penalties assigned under this Section may be reduced by the Superintendent or Superintendent’s 
designee upon the successful completion of counseling, community service, or other alternatives to curtailment set 
by the District.  The District shall have the sole discretion in determining whether the student is eligible for 
commutation, and what form the counseling, community service, or other alternatives to curtailment must be 
successfully completed before commutation may take place.  Any costs associated with counseling, community 
service, or other alternatives to curtailment shall be borne by the student or the student’s parent(s) or guardian(s). 

G. Effective Date.  The effective date of the curtailment of extracurricular activities shall be the date that the principal 
or principal’s designee provides the student with the oral or written notice of the charges except the principal shall 
not issue a letter of curtailment until there is a student admission, court decision or uncontested citation.  

DEFINITIONS: 

A. “Alcoholic beverage” shall mean any substance subject to the jurisdiction of the Nebraska Liquor Commission. 

B. “Citation” shall mean a summons to appear in court issued by a law enforcement officer. 

C. “Controlled substance” shall mean opiates, opium derivatives, depressants, stimulants, and the substances and 
derivatives as defined by Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-401(4) including, but not limited to, “uppers”, “downers”, barbiturates, 
amphetamines, LSD, heroin, hashish, hallucinogenic or cocaine, and substances, such as glue, to the extent any such 
substance is used for the purpose of mood or behavior alteration by a student, and any other substance which alters 
the mood or behavior and which is not taken for medical purposes (e.g., steroids).  

D. “Curtailment of extracurricular activities” shall mean that the student is ineligible for participation in or attending 
any extracurricular activities.  During any time that a student is excluded from school for conduct occurring while 
within school jurisdiction, the student is ineligible for participation in or attending any extracurricular activities.  

E. “Destructive device” shall mean (1) any explosive, incendiary or poison gas-bomb, grenade, rocket having a 
propellant charge of more than four (4) ounces, missile having an explosive or incendiary charge of more than one-
quarter ounce, mine, or device similar to any of the devices described in the proceeding clauses; (2) any type of 
weapon (other than a shotgun shell which is generally recognized as particularly suitable for sporting purposes) by 
whatever name known which will, or which may be readily converted to expel a projectile by the action of an 
explosive or other propellant, and which has any barrel with a bore of more than one-half inch in diameter; and (3) 

136



any combination of parts either designed or intended for use in converting any device into any destructive device or 
from which a destructive device may be readily assembled.  

F. “Exclusion” shall mean that time period a student is excluded from school during short-term suspension, long-term 
suspension, emergency exclusion, or expulsion.  It may also mean that period that the student is mandatorily 
reassigned. 

G. “Expulsion” shall mean exclusion from all schools in the District (except the location designated for alternative 
education). 

H. “Extracurricular activities” shall mean all athletic teams, activities, groups, clubs, homecomings, proms, dances, 
graduation ceremonies, and all other organizations or events sponsored by or associated with the District which are 
not part of the District curriculum.  

I. “Firearms” shall mean (1) any weapon (including a starter gun) which will or is designed to or may readily be 
converted to expel a projectile by the action of an explosive, or by the action of compressed gases or air, or by the 
action of the frame or receiver; (2) the frame or receiver of any such weapon; (3) any firearm muffler or firearm 
silencer; or (4) any destructive device.  Such term does not include an antique firearm. Such term does include any 
object that is ordinarily or generally considered a firearm or gun, including, but not limited to, stun guns, paint ball 
guns, air soft guns, B.B. guns, and pellet guns. 

J. “Illegal narcotic drug” shall mean the illegal substances as defined by Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-401(15). 

K. “Ineligibility period” shall mean that period of time that a district student is prohibited from participating in and/or 
attending any district extracurricular activities. 

L. “Injury” shall mean damage to a person that results in a specific wound or wounds that requires first aid treatment or 
a physician’s care. 

M. “Long-term suspension” shall mean exclusion from all schools in the District for more than five (5) school days but 
less than twenty (20) school days. 

N. “Look-a-like substance” (also known as imitation controlled substance) shall mean any substance which is not a 
controlled substance, but which by its appearance (including, but not limited to, color, shape, size, markings, or 
packaging) or by representations made, induce or are intended to induce, persons to believe that the substance is a 
controlled substance.  “Look-a-like substance” shall include any beverage containing alcohol or a beverage that is 
represented to contain alcohol.   

O. “Medication” shall be broadly defined and shall mean all prescribed medications, over the counter and other non-
prescribed medications, and all chemical substances, compounds, homeopathic substances, herbs, vitamins, and/or 
devices, which purport to aid in a person’s health or well-being or are intended for use in the diagnoses, cure, 
mitigation, treatment, or prevention of diseases, or are intended to affect the structure or any function of the body; 
and any device, instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, contrivance, implant, or other similar or related article, 
including any component part or accessory, which is prescribed by a physician, physician assistant, or advanced 
practice registered nurse, and dispensed by a pharmacist or other person authorized by law.   

P. “Non-prescribed medication” shall mean all medications which are available without a prescription or order from a 
person who is licensed under the laws of Nebraska to prescribe medications. 

Q. “On school grounds” shall mean on District property, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by the District being 
used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her 
designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event. 

R. “One year” shall mean the three hundred sixty-five (365) days that follow the acts at issue. 

S. “Prescribed medication” shall mean all medications which are available only with a prescription or order from a 
person who is licensed under the laws of Nebraska to prescribe medications. 

T. “Public indecency” shall mean performing, procuring, or assisting any other person to perform, in a public place and 
where the conduct may reasonably be expected to be publicly viewed:  (1) An act of sexual penetration; (2) An 
exposure of the genitals, female breasts or buttocks of the body done with intent to affront or alarm any person; or 
(3) A lewd fondling or caressing of the body of another person of the same or opposite sex. 

137



U. “School day” shall mean any day that school is in session and students are attending academic courses.  It does not 
include practices for extracurricular activities held during the summer, or weekends and vacations that occur during 
the academic school year. 

V. “School jurisdiction” shall mean on District property, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by the District being 
used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her 
designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event, or any other place where the governing law permits the 
District to discipline students for prohibited conduct. 

W. “Sexual assault” shall mean sexual assault in the first degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-319, sexual assault 
in the second degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-320, sexual assault of a child in the second or third degree as 
defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-320.01, or sexual assault of a child in the first degree as defined in Neb Rev. Stat. 
§28-319.01, as such statutes now provide or may hereafter be amended. 

X. “Sexual or intimate parts” shall mean the genital area, groin, inner thighs, buttocks or breasts.  

Y. “Short-term suspension” shall mean exclusion from all schools in the District not to exceed five (5) school days. 

Z. “Under the influence” shall mean the manifestation of physical and physiological symptoms or reactions caused by 
the use of any illegal narcotic drug, controlled substance, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, prescribed 
medication by a student for whom the prescribed medication was not prescribed, or alcohol. 

AA. “Weapon” shall mean any object or material that is ordinarily or generally considered a firearm, explosive, or 
weapon, including, but not limited to, guns, firearms, pipe bombs, stun guns, paint ball guns, air soft guns, B.B. 
guns, and pellet guns. 

 

Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-201 and 209 
  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-319, 319.01, 320 and 320.01 
  Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-401 

Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-502 and 504 
Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-511, 518 and 519 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-907 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-1202 et seq. 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-1341 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-267 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-293 
 
 

Related Rules: 5300.3 
5400.1 through .5 

  5410.1 
  5420.1 
  5470.1 
  5480.1 
  5490.1 
  5600.2 
 
 
Rule Approved:  May 7, 2001   
Revised:  April 15, 2002; May 5, 2003; March 15, 2004; June 5, 2006 Millard Public Schools 
July 9, 2007; June 2, 2008; February 2, 2009l; May 18, 2009                                                                     Omaha, NE 
 
 

138



AGENDA  SUMMARY  SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Award of Contract for Interactive Whiteboard Project 
 
MEETING DATE: May 18, 2009 
 
DEPARTMENT: General Administration 
 
TITLE & BRIEF 
DESCRIPTION: Award of Contract for Interactive Whiteboard Project – The receipt of bids and the 

awarding of the contract for multiple installations of interactive whiteboards in the 
District. 

 
ACTION DESIRED: Approval      x        Discussion             Information Only                                      .       
 
BACKGROUND: The installation of whiteboards was discussed with the Board at a previous 

meeting. 
 
 A copy of the bid tab and the architect’s recommendation are attached. 
 
 A representative from the engineering company plans to be at the meeting to 

answer any questions board members may have. 
 
OPTIONS AND 
ALTERNATIVES: n/a 
 
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the contract for the installation of interactive whiteboards 

be awarded to Starks Electric in the amount of $234,864 and that the associate 
superintendent for general administration be authorized and directed to execute any 
and all documents related to such project. 

 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
REFERENCE: n/a 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION/REJECTION: n/a 
 
TIMELINE: Immediate 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON: Ed Rockwell (Gen. Mgr. Support Services) and Ken Fossen, Associate 

Superintendent (General Administration) 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S 
APPROVAL: __________________________ 

139

sphelps
New Stamp



m o r r i s s e y  e n g i n e e r i n g  i n c  ⋅  m e c h a n i c a l  ⋅  e l e c t r i c a l  e n g i n e e r s  

4 9 4 0  n o r t h  1 1 8 t h  s t r e e t  ⋅  o m a h a ,  n e  6 8 1 6 4  ⋅  t  4 0 2 . 4 9 1 . 4 1 4 4  ⋅  f  4 0 2 . 4 9 1 . 4 1 4 6  

 
 
 
May 11, 2009 
 
Millard Public Schools 
5606 South 147th Street 
Omaha, NE 68137 
 
Attn: Dr. Ken Fossen 
 
Project Name: Interactive Whiteboard Installation 
Project Number: 09061 
 
RE: Bid Proposals dated April 6, 2009 
 
Ken: 
 
Bids were received for the Interactive Whiteboard Installation project at the Don Stroh 
Administration Center Conference Room C on April 6, 2009 at 2:00 p.m.  Per the attached bid 
tab, six bids were received.  The low base bid was submitted by Starks Electric in the amount of 
$234,864 (two hundred thirty four thousand eight hundred and sixty four dollars).  There were no 
alternates for this project.  The bid from Strategic Electric was not opened due to lack of bid bond.  
The range of bids was $234,864 (two hundred thirty four thousand eight hundred and sixty four 
dollars) to $434,136 (four hundred thirty four thousand one hundred and thirty six dollars).  The 
large variances in bids are typical on technology projects. 
 
Our estimate for the project construction cost was $350,000 (three hundred and fifty thousand 
dollars).  The project bids were lower than estimated due to current bidding climate and declining 
commodity costs. 
 
We recommend a contract be awarded to Starks Electric in the amount of $234,864 (two hundred 
thirty four thousand eight hundred and sixty four dollars).   
 
Please advise if you require any additional information. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
George Morrissey, P.E. 
Principal/Project Manager 
 
 
Enclosure 
 
 
c:  Ed Rockwell – Millard Public Schools 

140

andrewl
Stamp



PROJECT:  MPS Interactive Whiteboard Installation

BID DATE: 4/6/2009
BID TIME: 2:00 p.m.
MEI PROJECT NO.: 09061

BIDDERS BASE BID Unit Price "A"
Interactive WB

Unit Price "B"
Interactive WB 

Addendum 
#1

Addendum 
#2 Bid Bond Comments

Commonwealth $277,500 $1,859 $2,059 Y Y Y
Electric

D&J Electric $317,470 $2,140 $2,675 Y Y Y

BID TABULATION

D&J Electric $317,470 $2,140 $2,675 Y Y Y

Electronic Sound $283,570 $2,052 $2,220 Y Y Y

Starks Electric $234,864 $1,695 $3,000 Y Y Y

OK Electric $434,136 $3,246 $3,989 Y Y Y

Strategic Electric N Bid not read due to lack of bid bond

To perform interactive whiteboard installations per construction documents dated 4/23/09

141



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

MEETING DATE: May 18, 2009

DEPARTMENT: Human Resources

ACTION DESIRED: Approval

BACKGROUND: Personnel items: (1) Hires; (2) Resignations; and (3)
Contract Amendment

OPTIONS & ALTERNATIVES: NA

RECOMMENDATION: Approval

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: N/A

IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION
OR REJECTION: N/A

TIMELINE: N/A

RESPONSIBLE PERSON: Dr. Kirby Eltiste

SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL: __________________________________

142

sphelps
New Stamp



May 18, 2009

AMENDMENT TO CONTINUING CONTRACTS

Recommend: amendment to the following contracts:

1. Paul Gabel – Science teacher at Millard West High School. Amend contract to 50%. (He
is currently on a leave of absence.)

2. Valerie Wentworth – Science teacher at Millard West High School. Amend contract to
50%. (She is currently a science teacher at Millard West High School with .67 FTE.)

3. Michele Dort – Foreign Language teacher at North Middle School. Amend contract to
65%. She was hired for the 2009/2010 school year on a 50% contract for foreign
language.

143



May 18, 2009

RESIGNATIONS

Recommend: the following resignations be accepted:

1. Kendra Brandt – Speech Pathologist at Kiewit Middle School. She is resigning at the end
of the 2008/2009 school year for another job in education.

2. Matthew Sheppard – Instrumental Music teacher at West High School. He is resigning at
the end of the 2008/2009 school year to take a job outside of education.

3. Rebecca Williams – First grade teacher at Harvey Oaks Elementary School. She is
resigning at the end of the 2008/2009 school year for family reasons.

4. Alisha Bollinger – Montessori teacher at Norris Elementary School. She is resigning at
the end of the 2008/2009 school year due to relocation.

5. Jodi Frager – Elementary Counselor at Black Elk Elementary School. She is resigning at
the end of the 2008/2009 school year due to relocation.

6. Frances Pokorski – Special Ed BD teacher at Kiewit Middle School. She is resigning at
the end of the 2008/2009 school year to take another job in education.

7. Robin Rick-Mantaro – Alternate Curriculum teacher at North High School. She is
resigning at the end of the 2008/2009 school year due to relocation.

144



May 18, 2009

TEACHERS RECOMMENDED FOR HIRE

Recommend: the following teachers be hired for the 2009/2010 school year:

1. Rebecca Bettendorf – BA – University of Nebraska at Omaha. Special Ed Multi-
Handicapped teacher at Millard South High School.

2. Anna Butler – BA – University of Northern Iowa. Fifth grade teacher at Bryan
Elementary School.

3. Brooke Flynn – BA – University of South at Vermillion. Fifth grade teacher at Disney
Elementary School.

4. Becky Griggs – BA – Marquette University. Third grade teacher at Sandoz Elementary
School.

5. Kimberly Gates – MA – University of Nebraska at Lincoln. Speech Pathologist (50%) at
Millard North High School. Previous Exp: Lincoln Public Schools (1999/2003).

6. Mandie Hamaker – BA –University of Nebraska at Lincoln. First grade teacher at
Neihardt Elementary School. Previous Exp: Johnston, IA (2006/2009); Lincoln, NE
(2004/2006).

7. Lindsey Kozney – BA – University of Nebraska at Omaha. First grade teacher at Reagan
Elementary School.

8. Brittany Lewis – BA – University of Nebraska at Lincoln. Language Arts teacher at
Kiewit Middle School.

9. Anna Mayhan – BA – University of Nebraska at Omaha. First Grade teacher at Morton
Elementary School.

10. Shawna Maher – BA – Iowa State University. First grade teacher at Ackerman
Elementary School.

11. Abigail Mowry – BA – Chadron State. Fifth grade teacher at Norris Elementary School.
Previous Exp: Scottsbluff, NE (2008/2009).

12. Rebecca Mueller – BA – Buena Vista College. Second grade teacher at Aldrich
Elementary School.

13. Margarita Rueb – BA – Hastings College. ELL teacher (50%) at Central Middle School.

145



14. Barbara Rodgers – MA – University of Missouri. Elementary Counselor (50%) at
Ackerman Elementary School. Previous Exp: St. Louis, MO (1998/2000); Beverly Hills,
CA (1995/1998); Jennings, MO (1993/1995).

15. Alicia Rodick – BA – Southern Illinois University. First grade teacher at Cody
Elementary School. Previous Exp: Manhattan, KS (2007/2009); Wichita, KS
(2005/2007); Russellville, MO (2004/2005); Edwardsville, IL (2003).

16. Tina Schwahn – BA – University of Nebraska at Lincoln. Vocal Music teacher (50%) at
Millard South High School.

17. Nathan Seggerman – BA – University of Nebraska at Lincoln. Science teacher at Millard
West High School.

18. Rachel Skiles – BA – University of Nebraska at Kearney. Special Ed Resource teacher at
Neihardt Elementary School.

19. Suzanne Sobota – BA – University of Nebraska at Omaha. Kindergarten teacher at
Reagan Elementary School.

20. Jacob Thompson-Krug – BA – Peru State. Special Ed Resource teacher at Millard West
High School.

21. Jamie Weaver – BA – Kansas State Manhattan. Kindergarten teacher at Morton
Elementary School.

22. Nathan Wragge – BA – University of Nebraska at Omaha. Math teacher at Millard South
High School.

The following teachers was employed with Millard Public Schools during the 2008/2009
school year on a short-term contract. She is now being offered another short-term contract
for the 2009/2010 school year.

1. Brooke Larson – Third grade teacher at Neihardt Elementary School.

146



 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Legislative Update 
 
MEETING DATE: May 18, 2009 
 
DEPARTMENT: Office of the Superintendent    
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Legislative Update for the 101st Legislature. 
 
ACTION DESIRED: APPROVAL          DISCUSSION          INFORMATION ONLY   XX      
 
Calendar 
Senators have now completed 80 days of 90 day session, ten days and counting.   
 
LB 545 
LB 545 passed Final Reading on Wednesday.  There was a compromise that added more money to the 
averaging adjustment.  This compromise proposal raised our projected increase to 19.5 million (stimulus funds).  
The vote was 40 yes and 0 no so it is likely that this bill will be passed this week.  Passing this bill allows the 
Nebraska Department of Education to proceed with state aid certification.   
 
Learning Community 
LB 392 advanced to Final Reading with the following provisions: 

1.  Primary election 
2.  County treasurer distributes common levy funds 
3.  Delays the Elementary Learning Centers 11 months 
4.  School districts can use checks instead of warrants for paying debts 
5.  Non-voting members can participate in achievement sub-councils 
6.  LCCC is political subdivision under Tort Claims Act 

The language that allowed focus schools to be eligible for the new school adjustment in the formula was 
deleted.  It is my understanding that this is being deleted in response to the Governor's request. Senator 
Adams said that the Learning Community (Kermit) brought amendments that were more than technical 
and that did not get a hearing and he did not include them. 
 
ESU Bills 
LB 521 was killed in committee.  There will be an interim study on the ESU and how it relates to the Learning 
Community.  
 
National News 
President Barack Obama’s first budget proposal would boost U.S. Department of Education spending by 2.8 
percent and provide substantial resources to turn around low-performing schools, reward effective teachers, and 
bolster early-childhood programs.  
The president’s fiscal 2010 budget proposal, released last week, would provide $46.7 billion to the 
Education Department, an increase of $1.3 billion over fiscal 2009. 
 

 

147



Learning Community Bills 
LB 391 (Adams) Change the manner of distribution of tax revenue within learning communities 
http://www.unicam.state.ne.us/FloorDocs/Current/PDF/Intro/LB391.pdf 
LB 392 (Adams) Change provisions relating to learning communities 
http://www.unicam.state.ne.us/FloorDocs/Current/PDF/Intro/LB392.pdf 
LB 521 (Pankonin) Provide additional tax levy authority for learning communities 
http://www.unicam.state.ne.us/FloorDocs/Current/PDF/Intro/LB521.pdf 
LB 597 (Ashford) Change provisions relating to collaborative focus schools and programs and magnet schools 
http://www.unicam.state.ne.us/FloorDocs/Current/PDF/Intro/LB597.pdf 
 
ESU Bills 
LB 22 (Friend) Change tax levy authority of educational service units and school districts 
http://www.unicam.state.ne.us/FloorDocs/Current/PDF/Intro/LB22.pdf  
LB 281 (Mello) Change educational service unit board membership provisions 
http://www.unicam.state.ne.us/FloorDocs/Current/PDF/Intro/LB281.pdf 
LB 521 (Pankonin) Provide additional tax levy authority for learning communities 
http://www.unicam.state.ne.us/FloorDocs/Current/PDF/Intro/LB521.pdf 
 
Funding Bills 
LB 545 (Adams) Change the Tax Equity and Educational Opportunities Support Act 
http://www.unicam.state.ne.us/FloorDocs/Current/PDF/Intro/LB545.pdf 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN:  Implemented Strategies and Superintendent’s Goals 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON:  Angelo Passarelli 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:                                                                  
        (Signature) 
 
 

148

sphelps
New Stamp



Page 1 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB22 Friend Change tax levy authority of educational service units and school districts

NTRC Summary:  Change the tax levy authority of School Districts and Educational Service Units, 

add an additional  one and one half cents per hundred dollars of valuation in certain instances.

Education

02/23/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Monitor

LB61 Adams Change certification dates for state aid to schools

NCSA Summary: Changes the certification date for state aid notification from February 1st to April 

1st for 2009 only. The bill, if passed, would essentially buy the Legislature time to revise the 

school finance formula prior to April 1, 2009 to help address the state’s significant budget 

shortfall. It was revealed late in 2008 that state aid appropriations would likely be reduced as a part 

of the Governor’s biennium budget proposal. Changes the school finance formula (TEEOSA), but 

only to the extent that it relieves the Department of Education of the obligation to certify by 

February 1, 2009.

Education

01/20/09 at 1:30 p.m. 

Room 1525

Signed by 

Governor 

01/29/09

Monitor

Telephone:  402.434.3399
Fax: 402.434.3390

MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
LEGISLATIVE SUMMARY

101st Legislature - First Session - 2009

530 South 13th Street, Suite 110
Lincoln, Nebraska  68508

149



Page 2 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB62 Adams Change enrollment option program provisions

Statement of Intent:  Allows for option enrollment in the first school year a learning community is 

in place. Currently, option enrollment ends within a learning community once the learning 

community is established, but open enrollment is not in effect until the second school year after the 

learning community is established. Specific procedures for option enrollment within a learning 

community during the first school year reflect the provisions for open enrollment. The new learning 

community transportation adjustment would be delayed one year to line up with the current open 

enrollment provisions, which take effect for the second full school year of a learning community. 

The Department of Education would also be assigned responsibility for determining the average 

percentage of students qualifying for free or reduced price lunches in learning communities and 

member districts.

Education

01/20/09 at 1:30 p.m. 

Room 1525

Signed by 

Governor 

02/12/09

Support

LB64 Howard Adopt the Lindsay Ann Burke Act and provide duties for the State Department of Education and 

school districts with respect to dating violence

Requires each school district to establish and publish a policy for responding to incidents of dating 

violence and for each school district to provide dating violence training to 6th through 12th grade 

level administrators, teachers, coaches, nurses, and sponsors of student groups.  Also requires 

incorporation of dating violence education into health curriculum for 6th through 12th grade 

students.  

Education

02/03/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

General File 

02/12/09

Oppose

LB67 Friend Adopt the Elementary and Secondary Education Opportunity Act

NCSA Summary: Creates the Elementary and Secondary Education Opportunity Act and creates 

tax credits for voluntary contributions to certified school tuition organizations for scholarships to 

private elementary/secondary schools.

Revenue

02/27/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1524

Oppose

LB72 Cornett Provide for management of students' and children's life-threatening allergies

The Dept of Education and the Dept of Health and Human Services shall develop policy guidelines 

for schools and early childhood education programs to manage students with life-threatening 

allergies, including annual education and training and anaphylaxis education and emergency 

response training, individualized emergency health care plans, treatment plans and communication 

strategies.

Education

01/20/09 at 1:30 p.m. 

Room 1525

General File 

02/20/09

Monitor

150



Page 3 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB102 Adams Provide a definition of high school graduate for postsecondary admission and financial aid 

purposes

NCSA Summary: Provides that, for purposes of applying for and receiving financial aid relating to 

postsecondary education and admission to postsecondary educational institutions, a student would 

be deemed a “high school graduate”: (1) if the student has obtained an associate of arts degree or 

an associate of science degree from a community college in Nebraska; and (2) if the student 

earning such degree has completed, at an accredited high school in Nebraska, a community college 

in Nebraska, or a combination, the following academic credits: (a) Four units of English; (b) Three 

units of mathematics; (c) Three units of natural science; and (d) Four units of social science.

Education

01/26/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Signed by 

Governor 

03/05/09

Monitor

LB138 Avery Provide an income tax credit for public school teachers

NCSA Summary: Amends the Nebraska Revenue Act and creates an income tax credit for public 

school teachers. Effective January 1, 2009, each resident individual who is a full-time public 

school teacher in a K-12 classroom in Nebraska during the taxable year would be allowed a 

refundable credit against the income tax imposed by the Nebraska Revenue Act equal to $1,000. 

Part-time public school teachers in a K-12 classroom in Nebraska during the taxable year would be 

allowed a refundable credit equal to $1,000 multiplied by the percentage representing the 

individual’s portion of full-time employment as a public school teacher.

Revenue

02/25/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1524

Killed 03/09/09 Monitor

LB144 Avery Allow accessibility to certain disciplinary records regarding police officers and school district 

personnel

NCSA Summary: LB144 contains two major provisions. First, it provides that any record of 

disciplinary action in the personnel file that is final and relates to misconduct involving physical or 

sexual abuse will be regarded a public record if the individual is: a town marshal, a chief of police 

or a local police officer, a sheriff or a deputy sheriff, a deputy state sheriff,  a special deputy 

sheriff,  the Superintendent of Law Enforcement and Public Safety,  an officer of the Nebraska 

State Patrol,  a carrier enforcement officer,  a Game and Parks Commission conservation officer, or  

any other person with similar authority to make arrests under authority granted by this state or by 

any of its political subdivisions. Second, LB144 amends the existing law that states no other 

person, except school officials while engaged in their professional duties, shall be granted access to 

personnel files and the contents shall not be divulged in any manner to any unauthorized person. [§ 

79-8,109] LB144 provides an exception to the existing law for records in a personnel file regarding 

disciplinary action taken by the public school district’s administration against a teacher, 

administrator, or full-time employee involving any event, occurrence, or act which was deemed to 

be in violation of public school district policy or rule or state law.

Judiciary

02/26/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1113

Killed 03/03/09 Oppose

151



Page 4 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB145 Avery Prohibit firearms at schools, colleges, and universities as prescribed

Committee Statement: Amends sections 28-1204.03 and 28-1204.04 for the purposes of adding the 

following institutions to the definition of schools for the purpose of prohibiting firearms from the 

premises of these institutions unless they are properly stored and safeguarded: "a private 

postsecondary career school as defined in section 85-1603, a community college, a public or 

private college, a junior college, a university, or any other educational institution." Committee 

amendment (AM 790) amends section 2 of the bill by providing an exemption for college and 

university rifle team members to possess firearms on college and university property as part of the 

requirements for being on the rifle team. AM 790 also provides that a person employed by a 

college or university who is part of an agriculture or a natural resources program of such college or 

university may lawfully possess a firearm within the scope of the persons employment with the 

college or university.

Judiciary

03/19/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1113

General File 

04/06/09

LB145 amended 

into LB430.

Monitor

LB187 Nebraska 

Retirement 

Systems 

Committee

Change employee deposits under the School Employees Retirement Act

NCSA Summary: Provides that, beginning on September 1, 2010, and ending August 31, 2011, the 

employee contribution rate will be “xxx” percent of compensation. The exact percentage is 

deliberately left open in the event it is determined that a rate increase becomes necessary due the 

current economic situation we face. The current employee contribution rate is 7.28% of 

compensation and the employer rate is 101% of the employee rate. If the bill is not needed this 

session, it would automatically carryover to the following session (2010).

Nebraska Retirement 

Systems

03/04/09 at 12:10 pm

Room 1525

Advanced for 

Engrossment 

05/08/09

Monitor

LB205 Nordquist Require educational and ethics training for board members of certain retirement systems Nebraska Retirement 

Systems

02/05/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

General File 

03/17/09

Monitor

LB226 Rogert Change the age of majority to eighteen years of age for certain purposes

Changes the age of majority in the Nebraska from nineteen years of age to eighteen.

Judiciary

03/25/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1113

Monitor

152



Page 5 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB228 Rogert Prohibit school membership in certain activity-regulating organizations

NCSA Summary: States that no school offering instruction in grades 9-12 may hold membership in 

any organization which: Infringes in any manner on the right of a student, with parental consent, to 

participate in, train for, or compete in any activity, duly sanctioned by the national governing body 

for that activity, whether sponsored by the school or a nonschool organization; or Imposes any 

sanction against any student who, with parental consent, participates in, trains for, or competes in 

any activity, duly sanctioned by the national governing body for that activity, whether sponsored by 

the school or a nonschool organization.

Education

02/03/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Killed 05/06/09 Monitor

LB240 Pahls Require a minimum level of expenditures for direct classroom instruction

NCSA Summary:  Requires that all public school districts must spend no less than sixty-five 

percent of its total operating expenditures on direct classroom instruction in any fiscal year.

Education

03/17/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Oppose

LB255 Harms Require lap-shoulder belts in school buses

NCSA Summary: Requires that each seat on each school bus manufactured on or after the effective 

date of the bill and purchased on or after January 1, 2010, by a school board to be operated for the 

transportation of public school children in Nebraska must be equipped with lap-shoulder belts 

sufficient to allow each passenger who is being transported to use a separate belt. The belts must 

meet the standards under federal law (49 C.F.R. 571.208). School districts would be required to 

provide instruction in proper use of lap belts, shoulder belts, or lap-shoulder belts. Each passenger 

on a school bus that is equipped with lap belts, shoulder belts, or lap-shoulder belts must be 

transported only in a designated seating position and must wear such a belt, properly adjusted and 

fastened, at all times while the bus is in operation.

Transportation and 

Telecommunications

02/17/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1113

Monitor

LB281 Mello Change educational service unit board membership provisions

NCSA Summary: The narrowly defined provisions of LB 281 would appear to allow Bellevue 

Public Schools to terminate its existing association with ESU #3 in Omaha and join ESU #19 

(OPS), through modification of election law and ESU reorganization laws. While the bill permits 

other member schools within the learning community to take similar action, Bellevue Public 

Schools is the only learning community school known to have a desire to attach to a different ESU.

Education

02/03/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Monitor

153



Page 6 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB361 Avery

GOVERNMENT 

MILITARY 

AND VETERAN 

AFFAIRS 

COMMITTEE 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Authorize and change requirements for videoconferencing, telephone conferences, and electronic 

voting devices for public meetings 

Committee Statement: Allows entities created under the Interlocal Cooperation Act, the Joint 

Public Agency Act and the Municipal Cooperative Financing Act to utilize an electronic voting 

device to record roll call or viva voce votes of the governing body of such entities. Currently, only 

municipalities are authorized to utilize an electronic voting device. Explanation of amendments: 

The committee amendment makes several changes to the bill. The first change adds counties to the 

list of entities who are allowed to utilize electronic voting devices to satisfy the requirements of a 

roll call or viva voce vote. The committee amendment also adds the provisions of two bills: LB 

465 and LB 639. The provisions of LB 465 add educational service units to the list of public 

entities which are allowed to hold public meetings by videoconferencing and telephone conference. 

The provisions of LB 639 allow a governing body of a risk management pool and the advisory 

committees of the governing body to hold more than half of their meetings by telephone conference 

if the governing body's quarterly meetings are held in person. Under current law, no more than one-

half of the meetings in a calendar year held by governing body of a risk management pool or its 

advisory committees may be held by telephone conference call.

(LB465- Provide for videoconferencing and telephone conferences for educational service unit 

board meetings)

(LB639- Change provisions relating to telephone conferencing for public meetings)

Government, Military 

and Veterans Affairs

02/19/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1507

Signed by 

Governor  

04/22/09

LB465 and 

LB639 amended 

into LB361.

Monitor

LB364 Pankonin Permit school districts to exceed expenditure limits for costs relating to voluntary termination 

agreements

NCSA Summary: LB364 attempts to address a long-standing issue relevant to harmony between 

levy and expenditure lid exclusions for school districts as it pertains to voluntary termination of 

employment (early retirement programs). Current law [§ 77-3442(2)(d)] excludes from the levy 

limitations amounts levied to pay for sums agreed to be paid by a school district to certificated 

employees in exchange for a voluntary termination of employment. This has been the law since the 

passage of the levy limitations under LB1114 (1996). LB364 provides a corresponding expenditure 

lid exception so that a school district may exceed its budget of expenditures by a specific dollar 

amount for sums agreed to be paid to certificated employees in exchange for a voluntary 

termination occurring prior to July 1, 2009. The lid exception would apply to school fiscal years 

2009-10 and beyond.

Education

02/10/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Monitor

154



Page 7 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB377 Pankonin Adopt the Nebraska Governmental Unit Credit Facility Act

Finds that it is currently challenging for many governmental units to sell bonds or obtain credit at 

reasonable interest rates; declares an emergency; provides that any governmental unit in the 

Nebraska may obtain credit support for its bonds by entering into or obtaining a credit facility for 

any of its bonds from any United States governmental enterprise or from any bank providing a 

credit facility which is confirmed or otherwise supported by a credit facility provided by a United 

States governmental enterprise.

Banking, Commerce 

and Insurance

02/02/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1507

Signed by 

Governor 

04/08/09

Monitor

LB385 Pahls

PAHLS 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Terminate sales tax provisions

The schedule of sunsets in the bill is as follows:  1. Sales tax exemptions listed in sections of law 

that were enacted or last amended prior to 2005 sunset July 1, 2011;  2. Sales tax exemptions listed 

in sections of law that were enacted or last amended since January 1, 2005 sunset July 1, 2012;  3. 

Sales tax exemptions on rebates on motor vehicles and motorboats and the sales tax on services 

sunset on July 1, 2013.  4. The authorization for cities or counties to enact a local sales tax on top 

of the state sales tax sunsets on July 1, 2014.;  5. Sales tax obligations on the storage, use, lease, 

and rental fees sunsets on July 1, 2015;  6. The state sales tax sunsets on July 1, 2016.

NCCI Summary: Sunsets exemptions over three years, then sunset the sales tax itself over two 

years. If Nebraska eliminated all its sales tax exemptions, thus requiring sales tax be paid on all 

products, the state would raise another $3 billion a year in tax revenue, according to the bills' 

sponsor. Some products that would lose their, tax-exempt status under the bills include: garage 

sales; newspapers; fuel for aircraft and cars; food; the sale, lease, rental of manufacturing 

machinery; railroad rolling stock; prepaid telephone service; semen and insemination services in 

ranching and farming; seeds and plants when used for human consumption; agricultural chemicals; 

parent-booster clubs, lottery tickets; fine art purchased by a museum; medicine and medical 

supplies and government purchases. The additional revenue would be enough money to eliminate 

the property tax; end the corporate income tax; end fees and taxes on motor vehicles; and lower the 

state sales tax rate from 5.5 percent to 4.73 percent, according to Senator Pahls.

See LB386 and LB583.

Revenue

03/20/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1524

Senator Pahls 

Motion Failed 

04/17/09

Senator Pahls 

filed Motion to 

Place LB385 on 

General File 

pursuant to Rule 

3, Sec. 3 

04/09/09

Killed 04/06/09

Monitor

155



Page 8 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB386 Pahls Change and suspend sales tax exemptions, change collection fees, change tax rates, state intent 

relating to property tax relief

Provides for a suspension between January 1, 2010 and January 1, 2015 of motor vehicle fees and 

taxes as found in 60-3,110 to 60-3,112 and 60-3,143 to 60-3,155 and 60-3,184 to 60,3190.  Lowers 

the state sales tax rate under section 77-2703 from 5.5% to 4.73% beginning July 1, 2010 and then 

raises it back to 5.5% on July 1, 2015.  Provides for the suspension of the sales tax exemptions 

found in section 77-2704 between January 1, 2010 to January 1, 2015.  Changes the amount that 

collectors of the use tax can keep as a reimbursement for collecting the tax from 2.5% of the first 

$3000 collected to 5% of the first $1500 collected.  Provides for the corporate tax rate as found in 

section 77-2734 to be zero for the tax years starting January 1, 2009 through the tax year starting 

January 1, 2014.  The rate goes back to the current rate on January, 1 2015.  Provides that the 

intent of the legislature is to fund the Property Tax Credit Act in 77-4212 at a level that will reduce 

property taxes to zero starting in 2010 through 2015.  

See LB385 and LB583.

Revenue

03/20/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1524

Killed 04/02/09 Monitor

156



Page 9 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB387 Gay Eliminate certain taxing authority of learning communities and change state aid calculations

NCSA Summary:  In 2006 the Legislature passed LB1024 to create the Learning Community 

Reorganization Act and to establish a common levy for member school districts belonging to a 

learning community distributed by the learning community coordinating council. The current law 

provides that a learning community may levy a maximum levy for the general fund budgets of 

member school districts of 95¢. A learning community may levy a maximum levy of 2¢ for special 

building funds for member school districts. A learning communities may levy a maximum of 5¢ for 

elementary learning center facilities and for up to 50% of the estimated cost for capital projects 

approved by the learning community coordinating council. School districts that are members of 

learning communities may levy for purposes of the districts’ general fund budget and special 

building funds a maximum combined levy of the difference of $1.05 minus the learning community 

levies. LB387 appears to reverse the direction of LB1024 (2006) to the extent that the common 

levy provisions are eliminated. Each school district within a learning community would be allowed 

to individually levy a maximum of $1.05 (the same as all other school districts in Nebraska). A 

learning community would still be allowed to levy a maximum of 5¢ for elementary learning center 

facilities and for up to 50% of the estimated cost for capital projects approved by the learning 

community coordinating council. The bill amends the school finance formula (TEEOSA) and the 

duties and powers of the learning community coordinating council to harmonize with the changes 

in the levy provisions.

Education

02/23/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Killed 02/27/09 Support

LB391 Adams Change the manner of distribution of tax revenue within learning communities

Provide that County Treasurer shall distribute any funds collected from the common general fund 

levy and the common building fund levy to each member school district at least once each month 

and not to the Learning Community Coordinating Council.  Provide that the growth factor shall 

equal 100% plus one-half of the allowable growth rate for each year beginning with the first school 

fiscal year for which the learning community levies a common general fund property tax for school 

districts and ending with the school fiscal year for which the distribution is being made.  Extend 

(hold harmless) the phase-in provision from three years to five years.

Education

02/23/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Support

157



Page 10 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB392 Adams

EDUCATION 

COMMITTEE 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Change provisions relating to learning communities

NCSA Summary: Changes the election method as follows. Each voter would be allowed to cast 

votes for one candidate at both the primary and general elections to represent the election district in 

which the voter resides. The four candidates receiving the most votes at the primary election in 

each election district would advance to the general election. The two candidates receiving the most 

votes in each election district at the general election would be elected. The original learning 

community law did not provide for election at the primary election stage.  Provides that the 

application form for new school adjustments for new focus schools and new focus programs would 

require evidence (i) supporting an estimate of the expected average yearly enrollment in the focus 

school or focus program for the first two years of the new focus school or focus program and (ii) 

that the school fiscal year for which the district would receive the first-year adjustment will be the 

first full school fiscal year for which students will attend such focus school or focus program. 

Changes the timeline for establishing elementary learning centers. Provides that each achievement 

subcouncil will consist of the three voting coordinating council members representing the election 

district plus any nonvoting coordinating council members choosing to participate who represent a 

school district that has territory within the election district. The voting coordinating council 

members would also be the voting members on the achievement subcouncil. The duties of the 

achievement subcouncils would remain essentially the same.

Education

02/24/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Select File 

05/08/09

Support

LB393 Adams Change agenda provisions for meetings of the Educational Service Unit Coordinating Council

NCSA Summary: In 2007 the Legislature passed LB603 to create the Educational Service Unit 

Coordinating Council (ESUCC), which became operative on July 1, 2008. The council is 

composed of one administrator from each ESU. LB393 makes several changes to the activities of 

the ESUCC as follows. The bill clarifies that the council must provide each ESU administrator with 

notice of council meetings, including an agenda. Each ESU administrator is responsible for sharing 

the agenda with the ESU board he/she represents and for receiving input from his/her board prior 

to the council meeting. The bill changes the Open Meetings Act relating to meetings of the ESUCC 

and provides that notice of meetings of the council must be transmitted to all ESU administrators at 

least thirty days before the scheduled commencement of the meeting except in the case of 

emergency meetings.

Education

02/03/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Monitor

158



Page 11 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB418 Price Require valuation changes by the Tax Equalization and Review Commission among counties which 

have learning communities

Require valuation changes by TERC so that the level of value in all counties which have a school 

district that is a member of the learning community are at the same percentage in the acceptable 

range.

Revenue

03/26/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1524

Monitor

LB430 Christensen

FULTON 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Change provisions relating to the Concealed Handgun Permit Act 

NCSA Summary: States that cities and villages do not have the power to regulate the ownership, 

possession, or transportation of firearms, except as expressly provided by state law. The measure 

further states that any existing ordinances, permits, or regulations regulating the ownership, 

possession, or transportation of firearms are declared null and void. This will impact those few 

cities in Nebraska that have adopted ordinances to ban conceal carry handguns. Makes a number of 

changes to the Act in terms of administration and permit applications. The bill provides a 

reciprocity clause such that a valid license or permit to carry a concealed handgun issued by any 

other state or the District of Columbia would be recognized as valid in Nebraska if: i. the holder of 

the license or permit is not a resident of Nebraska and ii. the Attorney General has determined that 

the standards for issuance of such license or permit by such state or the District of Columbia are 

equal to or greater than the standards imposed by the Nebraska Concealed Handgun Permit Act. 

The Attorney General is required to maintain and publish a list of states and the District of 

Columbia that have standards equal to or greater than the standards imposed by the Nebraska law.

(LB145-Prohibit firearms at schools, colleges, and universities as prescribed)

Judiciary

03/11/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1113

Final Reading 

04/28/09

LB145 amended 

into LB430.

LB145-Monitor

LB448 Campbell Require an influenza vaccination pilot program

Establishes the two year “School-Based Influenza Vaccination Pilot Project” to afford influenza 

vaccinations for all children six months to eighteen years. The pilot shall be established in school 

districts on a voluntary basis.  The vaccinations shall be administered with the consent of 

participating students’ parents and guardians.  Pilot Project to begin in the 2009-2010 school year 

with evaluation report prepared by Health and Human Services by October 31, 2011.

Health and Human 

Services

02/06/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1510

Monitor

159



Page 12 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB449 Campbell

LOUDEN 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Change disability retirement allowance provisions of the School Employees Retirement Act

NCSA Summary: Amends a long-standing provision under the School Employees Retirement 

System relevant to disability and restoration of active service. Adds another provision stating that 

(i) if a disability beneficiary under the age of 65 years is restored to active service as a school 

employee AND (ii) the examining physician certifies that the beneficiary has a permanent 

disability, then the beneficiary would retain his/her disability retirement allowance IF the 

beneficiary’s monthly income does not exceed the applicable “Substantial Gainful Activity” (SGA) 

amount determined annually by the Social Security Administration for blind and non-blind 

individuals. NOTE: A person who is earning more than a certain monthly amount (net of 

impairment-related work expenses) is ordinarily considered to be engaging in SGA. The amount of 

monthly earnings considered as SGA depends on the nature of a person’s disability. The Social 

Security Act specifies a higher SGA amount for statutorily blind individuals; Federal regulations 

specify a lower SGA amount for non-blind individuals. Both SGA amounts increase with increases 

in the national average wage index.

Nebraska Retirement 

Systems

03/04/09 at 12:10 pm

Room 1525

Signed by 

Governor 

04/22/09

Monitor

LB461 Adams Change provisions relating to the Commissioner of Education and the State Board of Education

Strikes the provision that states the Commissioner of Education must decide disputed points of 

school law, which decisions must have the force of law until changed by the courts.  Adds a 

provision that the Commissioner has the authority to faithfully execute the policies and directives 

of the State Board of Education. States that the Commissioner of Education shall not be a member 

of the State Board of Education. Requires all meetings of the Board to be in compliance with the 

Open Meetings Act.

Education

03/10/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

LB257, LB461, 

LB530 and 

LB548 amended 

into LB549.

Monitor

LB464 Gay

SPEAKER 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Require certain booster immunizations for students entering seventh grade

NCSA Summary: Currently, each school district and private school must require each student to be 

protected against measles, mumps, rubella, poliomyelitis, diphtheria, pertussis, and tetanus by 

immunization prior to enrollment. Provides that, beginning July 1, 2010, every student entering the 

7th grade must have a booster immunization containing diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and an 

acellular pertussis vaccine, which meets the standards approved by the U.S. Public Health Service 

for such biological products. Existing law provides that the cost of immunization is paid by the 

parent or guardian of the student who is immunized OR by the Department of Health and Human 

Services for those students whose parent or guardian is financially unable to meet the cost. This 

provision remains unchanged under LB 464.

Education

02/02/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Final Reading 

04/14/09

Monitor

160



Page 13 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB465 Christensen Provide for videoconferencing and telephone conferences for educational service unit board 

meetings

NCSA Summary: Amends the Educational Service Units Act and the Open Meetings Act to permit 

an ESU board to conduct a meeting by videoconferencing or telephone conference. In keeping with 

existing law, at least one member of the ESU board must be present at each site of the telephone 

conference call identified in the public notice for the meeting.

(LB361-Change roll call provisions under the Open Meetings Act)

(LB639- Change provisions relating to telephone conferencing for public meetings)

Government, Military 

and Veterans Affairs

02/19/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1507

LB465 and 

LB639 amended 

into LB361.

Monitor

LB473 Louden Adopt the Nebraska Elementary Attendance Region Act

NCSA Summary: Creates the Nebraska Elementary Attendance Region (NEAR) Act and permits 

certain school districts to create elementary attendance regions. Elementary attendance regions are 

community-governed elementary sites established by residents of a single Class II, III or IV K- 12 

district with the primary purpose of assuring community educational governance in sparsely 

populated areas of the state. Certain criteria would have to be met to authorize the creation of such 

a region. Establishes criteria for creating a NEAR either through school board approval after 

submission of a proposal or through a petition process by a group of residents within the proposed 

region. A NEAR operating council, consisting of three to five residents of the region, will make 

recommendations to the K-12 board regarding operations of the school. All annual operational and 

maintenance costs are the responsibility of the K-12 district. The school district may provide a 

facility or impose a levy on the residents of the K-12 school district of one cent per $100 valuation 

not to exceed $50,000 for five years for construction, purchase, renovation or lease of a facility. If 

the facility for a NEAR is not provided by the K-12 board, the NEAR Operating Council may levy 

a tax on the property within the elementary region, not to exceed five and one fifths cents per $100 

of valuation not to exceed $50,000 in total over five years.

Education

03/09/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Monitor

161



Page 14 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB476 Stuthman

STUTHMAN 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Adopt the Center for Student Leadership and Extended Learning Act

NCSA Summary: Creates the Center for Student Leadership and Extended Learning Act, a career 

education program to be administered by the Nebraska Department of Education (NDE). The idea 

behind the bill is to provide opportunities to educate young people with leadership and 

employability skills to: a. meet the needs of business and industry and remain economically viable, 

b. educate and nurture future entrepreneurs for successful business ventures to diversify and 

strengthen our economic base, c. foster rewarding personal development experiences that involve 

students in their communities and encourage them to return to their community after completing 

postsecondary education, and d. invest in and support the leadership development of our future 

state and community civic leaders. 

Education

03/10/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Advanced for 

Engrossment 

05/07/09

Monitor

LB479 Rogert Change enrollment provisions relating to early childhood education

NCSA Summary: In 2008, LB 1153 (§ 2) was passed into law and included a provision stating that, 

for 2008-09 only, early childhood education programs established by school districts or ESUs that 

are not receiving a grant through the early childhood education grant program may serve children 

who meet the age requirements to attend kindergarten, but are not of mandatory attendance age. 

Changes this provision to state that any early childhood education program established by a school 

board or an ESU that is not receiving an early childhood grant or funding through the TEEOSA 

may enroll children: who meet the age requirements to be enrolled in kindergarten, who have not 

previously been enrolled in an early childhood education program, who are not then enrolled in 

kindergarten, and who are not of mandatory attendance age.

Education

02/02/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Killed 02/20/09 Monitor

LB480 Dierks Change budget limit and tax levy limitation provisions

Provides that budget limitations shall not apply to restricted funds budgeted to pay for any drug 

prevention or drug enforcement costs in excess of the amount budgeted for such costs for FY2008-

09.  Property tax levies for capital improvements are not included in the levy limits. 

Revenue

02/19/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1524

Killed 04/30/09 Monitor

LB486 Karpisek Require certain governmental entities to identify themselves as such in their official name

When engaging in an activity in competition with a private enterprise for a special benefit or profit 

or in any other proprietary activity, the state and each political subdivision and any entity created 

pursuant to the Interlocal Cooperation Act or Joint Public Agency Act shall include as part of its 

official name the words political subdivision, a government entity, or other similar words that 

identify it as a unit of government. 

Government, Military 

and Veterans Affairs

03/05/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1507

Monitor

162



Page 15 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB521 Pankonin Provide additional tax levy authority for learning communities

NCSA Summary:  Provides that a quarter of one cent may be levied and used for learning 

community general fund purposes with the approval of the learning community coordinating 

council. Changes the calculation of adjusted valuation for ESUs such that the adjusted valuation for 

member districts of a learning community is reduced by 10% rather than 50% for purposes of 

calculating aid to applicable ESUs. The adjusted valuation for each learning community would 

equal 10%, rather than 50%, of the total adjusted valuation of the member school districts. Changes 

the calculation of adjusted students for each ESU for purposes of calculating ESU state aid. 

Changes the percentages relevant to the learning community and learning community schools from 

50% to 10%.

Revenue

03/26/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1524

Killed 04/30/09 Support

LB534 Price Change provisions relating to learning community diversity plans

NCSA Summary: Provides that any school district in the learning community that has attendance 

areas within the district may assign open enrollment students to a building, or choice of buildings, 

that is consistent with district policy for assigning resident students or option enrollment students. 

Districts within a learning community that use their attendance areas for the purpose of assigning 

open enrollment students must maintain records with supporting data showing the efforts made to 

provide improvement in socioeconomic diversity of enrollment within the buildings in the district. 

These records and supporting data must be made available to the learning community coordinating 

council upon request within forty-five days.

Education

02/24/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Killed 02/27/09 Monitor

163



Page 16 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB538 Giese Exempt government employee retirement benefits from income tax

Statement of Intent: Provides that up to $75,000 of the federal adjusted gross pension income for 

all retirees from all state operated public employee retirement systems, the U.S. Civil Service 

Retirement System, the U.S. Military Retirement System, and individuals receiving Social Security 

benefits would be excluded from paying state income tax, with the exemption phased in over five 

years. The applicable retirement systems which would receive this benefit are the School 

Employees Retirement System, the Omaha School Employees Retirement System, the County 

Employees Retirement System, the Judges Retirement System, the Nebraska State Patrol 

Retirement System, the State Employees Retirement System, the U.S. Civil Service Retirement 

System, and the U.S. Military Employees Retirement System. Under the bill, taxpayers filing a 

single return in 2008 would be able to exclude up to $15,000 in retirement income. If both spouses 

receive qualifying retirement income, the exclusion would be $30,000. The exclusion would be 

phased in over a five-year period, increasing the excluded amount by 20% of the final cap each 

year until the $75,000 maximum exclusion for single taxpayers is reached in 2013.

Revenue

02/04/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1524

Killed 03/09/09 Monitor

164



Page 17 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB545 Adams

ADAMS 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

2009 

SPEAKER'S 

MAJOR 

PROPOSAL

Change the Tax Equity and Educational Opportunities Support Act

Committee Statement:  The Committee Amendments replace the original provisions. They address 

reorganization incentives from LB546, a hold harmless in the aid formula for learning community school 

districts from LB391, a budget exception for early retirements from LB364, possible increases in employer 

contributions to the retirement systems for school employees, budget limitations, the cost growth factor, the 

averaging adjustment, the instructional time allowance, funds from the federal American Recovery and 

Reinvestment Act (ARRA) of 2009, and bonding authority pursuant to the federal act. The amendment 

contains an emergency clause. The reorganization incentives from LB546 would reauthorize school district 

reorganization incentives with a modified formula using the remainder of the funds that were available for 

previous incentives. The difference between these provisions in the amendment and the original bill is that the 

set aside from the School District Reorganization Fund for temporary funding for aggregation routing 

equipment and network transport costs for Network Nebraska is eliminated and the section providing the 

procedures for the temporary funding is outright repealed. The set aside has never been used. Legislative Bill 

391 contained an extension of the hold harmless provisions for learning community schools in the 

distribution of common levy proceeds. The amendment uses a different approach by adding a minimum level 

of formula need for such districts to the determination of formula need and eliminates both the current hold 

harmless provisions from the common levy distribution and current phase-in provisions from the state aid 

calculation. LB364 provided for a return to a budget exception for voluntary termination agreements. The 

amendment provisions mirror those in the original bill. The LB545 committee amendments do not change any 

contribution rates for the School Retirement System of the State of Nebraska or the Class V School 

Employees Retirement System. However, there are changes that would assist school districts in meeting 

increased employer contribution rates should they occur. The budget limitations would be modified to 

decrease the rate of growth in school district spending. The change in the cost growth factor that would 

follow pursuant to current law would be delayed for two years to accommodate the possibility of increased 

expenditures for retirement outside of the budget limits. Section 77-3446 would be amended by decreasing 

the base limitation rate for school districts from 2.5% to 1.5% for 2009-10 through 2012-13. The rate would 

remain at 2.5% for all other political subdivisions. The basic allowable growth rate, defined in section 79-

1025 as the base limitation rate, is used to control spending growth for school districts and is used in the 

approximation of spending growth in the TEEOSA formula. A new section recognizes the inclusion of 

proceeds from the ARRA of 2009 in the distribution of aid through TEEOSA. Section 79-10,110 would be 

amended to enable school districts to utilize bond programs authorized in the  ARRA of 2009.

Education

02/09/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Advanced for 

Engrossment 

05/11/09

Motion to 

Invoke Cloture 

Failed 04/22/09

Motion to 

Bracket until 

June 4, 2009 

04/22/09

Monitor

165



Page 18 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB546 Adams Change school organization provisions

NCSA Summary: LB 546 attempts to breathe some life into the school district reorganization 

incentive program. It opens a new window for schools to apply for incentive payments through 

consolidation from May 31, 2009 to June 1, 2011. The bill changes the allocation of the Education 

Innovation Fund (state lottery proceeds). Currently, the first $750,000 of available funds is 

transferred to the Attracting Excellence to Teaching Program Cash Fund and the amount remaining 

in the Education Innovation Fund is allocated for distance education equipment and incentives. LB 

546 would change the distribution for 2009-10 only. First, the bill states that any amounts 

transferred to the Education Innovation Fund from the School District Reorganization Fund must 

be returned to the School District Reorganization Fund. There could be as much as $200,000 that 

would be transferred to the Reorganization Fund through this provision although it is not known as 

yet whether any funds would be transferred. This provision represents a cautionary clause in the 

event such funds exist and are available to be transferred. After such transfer is made, if at all, the 

next $1 million would be transferred to the Attracting Excellence to Teaching Program Cash Fund 

and the amount remaining in the Education Innovation Fund would be allocated for distance 

education equipment and incentives.

Education

03/09/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Monitor

LB547 Adams

HAAR 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Change the Attracting Excellence to Teaching Program Act

Statement of Intent: Modifies the Attracting Excellence to Teaching Program by allowing 

certificated teachers employed by accredited or approved schools access to the forgivable loan 

program and by restricting the program for students working toward their initial certification to 

students majoring in a shortage area. Participating certificated teachers would be required to major 

in a shortage area, a subject area in which they already have a secular teaching endorsement, or in a 

secular teaching area approved by their superintendent or head administrator. The maximum loans 

would also be increased from $2,500 to $3,000 per year and new participants would have to work 

as a teacher in Nebraska for two years following graduation before forgiveness would begin. The 

existing one million dollars annual allocation of lottery funding would be divided with up to 

$300,000 for students working toward their initial certification and the remainder ($700,000) for 

certificated teachers.

Education

02/02/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Signed by 

Governor 

04/22/09

Monitor

166



Page 19 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB548 Adams

SPEAKER 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Change provisions relating to student files and the State Board of Education

NCSA Summary: Current law requires that a copy of a public or private school’s files or records 

concerning a student must be provided at no charge, upon request, to any public or private school 

to which the student transfers. This bill specifies that such files and records may include academic 

and any disciplinary material. This bill also changes the powers and duties of the State Board of 

Education. Existing law requires the board to adopt and promulgate rules and regulations 

containing reasonable standards governing: The general design, equipment, color, operation, and 

maintenance of any vehicle with a manufacturer's rated seating capacity of eleven or more 

passengers used for the transportation of school children; and the equipment, operation, and 

maintenance of any vehicle with a capacity of ten or less passengers used for the transportation of 

school students, when such vehicles are owned, operated, or owned and operated by any school 

district or privately owned or operated under contract with any school district in this state. First, 

this bill clarifies that the above provisions apply to both public and private school students. 

Second, this bill stipulates that the transportation provisions do not apply to home school students.

Education

03/10/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Signed by 

Governor 

03/26/09

LB257, LB461, 

LB530 and 

LB548 amended 

into LB549.

Monitor

LB549 Adams

EDUCATION 

COMMITTEE 

PRIORITY BILL 

2009

Change provisions relating to schools

NCSA Summary: represents the technical cleanup bill offered on behalf of the Department of 

Education (NDE).

(LB257-Eliminate the Seamless Delivery System Pilot Project)

(LB461-Change provisions relating to the Commissioner of Education and the State Board of 

Education)

(LB530-Change enrollment provisions relating to early childhood education)

(LB548-Change provisions relating to student files and the State Board of Education)

Education

03/10/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Passed 05/07/09

LB257, LB461, 

LB530 and 

LB548 amended 

into LB549.

Monitor

LB558 Nantkes Require use of funds from the temporary school fund for enhancing salaries of certificated teachers

NCSA Summary: Dedicates funding for teacher salary enhancement. It requires each school district 

to expend funds received from the temporary school fund only for enhancement of the salaries of 

certificated teachers under contract with the district. The salary enhancement funds must be paid to 

certificated teachers in addition to the compensation agreed upon between the teachers and the 

district in the employment contract. NOTE: The temporary school fund is the holding fund to 

which the interest, dividends, and any other income from the permanent school fund, the net 

income from the school lands, and the money from all other sources required or provided by law 

are credited.

Education

02/02/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Monitor

167



Page 20 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB578 Fulton State intent relating to the state aid distribution to schools

NCSA Summary: Provides both intent language and requirements upon school districts to annually 

expend on teachers’ salaries and benefits a percentage of its annual state aid distribution under 

TEEOSA (presumably equalization aid), which is equivalent to the percentage of the school 

district’s annual budget for such salaries and benefits.

Education

02/09/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Killed 02/20/09 Oppose

LB583 Dierks Change sales, property, and income tax provisions and education funding

Changes the sales tax rate to an unspecified percent beginning January 1, 2010.  Provides that all 

services, except medical services, shall be subject to the sales tax.  Provides for collection of sales 

tax on food, except food purchased with food coupons issued by the USDA.  Provides for a food 

sales tax credit for qualified resident individuals.  Strikes the maximum levy for school districts 

and learning communities but does not yet specify the replacement levy per one hundred dollars of 

taxable valuation.  Removes language authorizing community college levies.  Generally provides 

that the compensation of school district and learning community employees and their employer 

retirement contributions are the responsibility of the State through the General Fund.  Provides that 

funding of community college areas shall be a state responsibility through the General Fund.  

Creates Property Tax Relief and Reorganization Fund to provide property tax relief, but does not 

appear to establish a funding mechanism for the fund.  

See LB385 and LB386.

Revenue

02/11/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1524

Monitor

LB597 Ashford Change provisions relating to collaborative focus schools and programs and magnet schools

NCSA Summary: Provides that if multiple member districts collaborate on a focus program, focus 

school, or magnet school, such districts must either: establish an interlocal agreement by which the 

collaborative effort is designed and governed and which determines how legal, financial, and 

academic responsibility will be shared; or one member school district must be designated as the 

primary school district and must maintain legal, financial, and academic responsibility for the focus 

program, focus school, or magnet school.

Education

02/24/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Monitor

168



Page 21 of 21 5/11/2009

BILL 
NO.

PRIMARY 
INTRODUCER

DESCRIPTION AND
SUMMARY OF BILL

COMMITTEE & 
HEARING DATE

STATUS IF 
NOT IN 

COMMITTEE
POSITION

LB612 Avery Prohibit school districts from making contributions or reimbursements relating to retirement 

benefits

NCSA Summary:  amends both the School Employees Retirement System and the Class V School 

Employees Retirement System (OPS). The measure is aimed at school administrator contracts that 

provide for the school district to pay, on the employee’s behalf, both the employee and employer 

share of the respective retirement plans or reimburse the employee for the employee’s share to the 

retirement plan. The bill appears to prohibit such contractual provisions unless the school district 

provides the same benefit to all school employees of the district.

Nebraska Retirement 

Systems

02/18/09 at 12:10 pm

Room 1525

Monitor

LB665 Janssen Adopt the Teacher Shortage Loan Repayment Act

Statement of Intent:  Adopts the Teacher Shortage Loan Repayment Act. This proposal would 

permit students at Nebraska’s public and private universities and colleges to participate in a loan 

forgiveness plan if they agree to teach in a shortage area school district for a certain period of time. 

The program would be administered by the Coordinating Commission for Postsecondary Education 

(CCPE). It would have a limited appropriation and the CCPE would be required to report the 

results of the program to the Legislature and Governor to evaluate its performance.

Education

02/02/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1525

Monitor

LB678 Haar Change provisions relating to minutes of public meetings

NARD Summary: The bill allows minutes of meetings subject to the Open Meetings Act to be 

written or in an electronic recording, including audio or video recording of the meeting.

Government, Military 

and Veterans Affairs

02/19/09 at 1:30 p.m.

Room 1507

Monitor

169



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Final 2009 Enrollment Projections 
       
Meeting Date:  May 18, 2009        
   
Department:  Planning & Evaluation     
 
Title and Brief    
Description: May Enrollment Projections are based on a three year 

retention rate for each grade level at each school, initial 
Kindergarten registration numbers and the current 
housing market conditions in each of the neighborhoods 
per school.  These projections estimate a growth in 
student population of .0119 for the 2009-2010 school 
year. 

  
Action Desired:  Approval ___   Discussion    x     Information Only ____            
 
Background:    
 
Options/Alternatives 
Considered:  N.A.   
   
Recommendations:  
 
Strategic Plan 
Reference:   To meet the mission of the district.    
 
Implications of  
Adoption/Rejection: N.A. 
  
Timeline:    
 
Responsible  
Persons:   Dr. Jon Lopez 
    
 
Superintendent’s Signature:  ______________________________ 

170

sphelps
New Stamp



Projections for 200910

Proj K 2009
Proj 1st  
2009

Proj 2nd  
2009

Proj 3rd 
2009

Proj 4th 
2009

Proj 5th  
2009 self cont

Projected 
Total

Official End
ofSept. 
2008 Difference

Abbott 83 79 64 70 69 56 421 411 10
Ackerman 82 98 92 76 86 94 528 550 ‐22
Aldrich 67 57 52 103 75 88 442 429 13
Black Elk 82 84 87 99 80 96 528 537 ‐9
Bryan 62 64 69 61 62 63 381 381 0
Cather 85 79 81 75 69 65 454 430 24
Cody 42 30 40 35 29 29 19 205 210 ‐5
Cottonwood 64 53 57 57 60 67 358 346 12
Disney 45 47 42 44 33 47 13 258 264 ‐6
Ezra Millard 65 60 62 61 67 48 11 363 391 ‐28
Harvey Oaks 49 47 49 55 53 48 301 288 13
Hitchcock 31 17 24 27 25 24 18 148 175 ‐27
Holling Heights 59 58 58 63 71 59 11 368 388 ‐20
Montclair 87 83 83 91 93 71 508 530 ‐22
Morton 60 42 57 62 66 57 12 344 357 ‐13
Neihardt 90 82 102 100 103 75 552 549 3
Norris 68 62 49 55 55 58 347 340 7
Reagan 105 120 111 112 73 94 615 543 72
Reeder 70 71 100 83 95 75 15 494 435 59
Rockwell 56 46 44 48 42 40 20 276 295 ‐19
Rohwer 71 74 85 81 82 78 16 471 471 0Rohwer 71 74 85 81 82 78 16 471 471 0
Sandoz 49 51 55 52 53 49 309 312 ‐3
Upchurch 100 97 59 61 48 34 399 287 112
Wheeler 105 93 100 98 100 80 20 576 581 ‐5
Willowdale 57 54 75 68 89 72 415 417 ‐2

1734 1648 1697 1737 1678 1567 155 10061 9917 144

Proj 6th 
2009

Proj 7th 
2009

Proj 8th 
2009 Proj Total

ofSept. 
2008 Difference

AMS 254 255 275 784 756 28
BMS 305 315 301 921 839 82
CMS 237 256 231 724 735 ‐11
KMS 287 313 290 890 929 ‐39
NMS 354 249 253 856 732 124
RMS 261 292 293 846 851 ‐5
MS Alter 6 12 18 18 0

1698 1686 1655 5039 4860 179

Proj 9th 
2009

Proj 10th 
2009

Proj 11th 
2009

Proj 12th 
2009  Proj Total

ofSept. 
2008 Difference

North HS 621 592 579 627 2419 2436 ‐17
South HS 451 533 514 487 1985 2075 ‐90
West HS 533 524 535 552 2144 2110 34
MLC 19 71 90 83 7

1605 1649 1647 1737 6638 6704 66

Contracted SPED 40 45 ‐5
Young Adult Program 52 57 ‐5

5District Projected Total with Contracted SPED and YAP 21830 21583
District Projected Total without Contr SPED and YAP 21738 21481 257 11‐May‐09

171



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: May Senior Status 
       
Meeting Date:  May 18, 2009        
   
Department:  Planning & Evaluation     
 
Title and Brief    
Description: May Senior Status:  This report reflects the number of 

seniors who have, or are on track to earn the required 
credits for graduation, but have not passed the required 
district assessments in order to receive a diploma.  Four 
students remain in this status as of May 13, 2009.  Each 
of these students qualifies to apply for an adjusted 
cutscore based on a specific learning disability. 

  
Action Desired:  Approval ___   Discussion    x     Information Only ____            
 
Background:    
 
Options/Alternatives 
Considered:  N.A.   
   
Recommendations:  
 
Strategic Plan 
Reference:   To meet the mission of the district.    
 
Implications of  
Adoption/Rejection: N.A. 
  
Timeline:    
 
Responsible  
Persons:   Dr. Jon Lopez 
    
 
Superintendent’s Signature:  ______________________________ 

172

sphelps
New Stamp



Seniors with Outstanding ELOs who have enough credits to graduate

Credits Outstanding ELOs

Millard North

Student A 205 credits plus current schedule applied for LC in Math and Writing

Millard South

Student A applied for DP in Science

Student B applied for LC in Reading

Student C applied for LC in Science and Math

Millard West

None

as of May 11, 2009

173



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

AGENDA ITEM: Curriculum Management Audit Update

MEETING DATE: May 18, 2009

DEPARTMENT: Educational Services

TITLE AND
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Curriculum Management Audit Update

ACTION DESIRED: __X__ Information

BACKGROUND: The original Phi Delta Kappa sponsored Curriculum Management
Audit was conducted in the Spring of 1998. In the Spring of 2007, the Board commissioned
a follow-up Curriculum Management Audit to determine the progress that had been made
over the preceding nine years and to identify those areas in further need of attention. The
follow-up audit has nine continuing recommendations and numerous sub-points to each
requiring the collective efforts of not only Educational Services, but also, Human Resources,
Planning and Evaluation, the Business Office, Technology, General Administration, and the
Superintendent. Review and implementation of these recommendations, where appropriate,
is a multi-year project.

The attached matrix outlines the progress made in addressing these recommendations during
the 2008-2009 school year.

RECOMMENDATIONS: NA

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: None

TIMELINE: On-going

RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S): Dr. Mark Feldhausen, Assoc. Supt. for Ed. Services

SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL: ______________________
(Signature)

BOARD ACTION:

174

sphelps
New Stamp



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline

1: Establish a cycle of board policy review. Continue to

revise current policies or adopt new policies to provide

for local curriculum management and quality control.
1.1: Develop and adopt a policy that provides direction

for a full scope of long- and short-range district planning.

The policy should address development, implementation,

monitoring, evaluation, relationship to the budget

planning process, and public reporting procedures.

X Policy 10,000 The Superintendent

continues to direct that all

policies and rules should

be reviewed every seven

years. The Director of

Administrative Affairs is

tasked with tracking

Policy/Rule updates.

This requires that 80 be

reviewed and updated per

year..

Rule 10,000.1

modified to include

references to shor

term and long-term

planning. Board

approved on June 2,

2008.

1.2: Develop and adopt a policy that requires a seven-

year cycle of board policy review. The cycle should be

developed so that the core curricular areas of

English/language arts, math, science, and social studies

are not reviewed in the same year.

X (Seven year curriculum

cycle 6120 & 6130,

6130.1 and BOE

Policy review cycle

8110 are different

issues. Watch for

undue stress on

teachers at given level)

1.3: Strengthen Board Policy 6120.1 to require that

primary instructional resources and textbooks, aligned to

the curriculum guides, are adopted by the board as part of

the review cycle.

X 6120.1

(Align with 6010.1

Review parallel

language or reference

each to the other)

Revised Rule 6120.1 to

address MEP Cycle and

action of BOE regarding

textbook approval

BOE to approve

changes May 18,

2009

1.4: Develop and adopt a policy that establishes time

allocations for instruction in the core content areas.
X (Rule 6031.1 Provide

ranges for elem that

corresponds to Rule 10

and state

reporting—create rule

or add to current—add

pacing to K-12

curriculum guides)

Rule 6031.1 revised and

presented to BOE

September 15, 2008.

Time allocations

strengthened in Rule.

Course guides revised in

6130.1

Revision to Rule

6031.1 completed.

Rule 6130.1

scheduled for BOE

appoval May 18,

2009.

Responsible Party

175



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

1.5: Develop and adopt a policy that establishes program

budgeting procedures to ensure that planning priorities are

reflected in budgeting and spending.

X (Fossen and Program

Budgeting 3110 &

3110.1)

embed program

budgeting process into

Rule 3110.1

BOE approved

revised Rule 3110.1

July 7, 2008

1.6: Establish a calendar of systematic policy review so

that board policies keep pace with current board

expectations. During the reviews, update terminology, job

titles referenced in policies, and legal requirements as

needed.

X (Supt. and Ex. Cabinet,

BOE 8110)

Supt. requires all BOE

Policies and Rules to be

updated every 8 years.

Matrix and calendar

maintained by Dir. Of

Admin Affairs

On-going

2: Revise the Table of Organization and Job

Descriptions to reflect current expectations, roles, and

responsibilities.
2.1: Revise the organizational chart to meet audit criteria

listed in Exhibit 2.2 and to support Pre-K-12 articulation

of the curriculum.

X (Supt. for

organizational chart)

(PK12 articulation to

ES Rule####)

- Create and staff a Pre-K-12 Curriculum Director

position. (This is an additional position in contrast to

combining Directors of Elem and Secondary—perhaps

a coordinator to maintain consistency and

documentation, etc. Would need a job description.)

X X No action planned at this

time.

- Redesign the MEP Facilitator positions to have Pre-

K-12 curriculum responsibilities.
X (Review current job

description of ES

MEP’s)

Most recent posting

assumed a K-12 posture

for MEP responsibilities

- Address the span of control for the Superintendent,

Associate Superintendent of Educational Services,

Elementary and Secondary Directors.

X X No action planned at this

time.

- Clarify reporting relationships when job descriptions

list more than one supervisor.
X (HR—All job

descriptions that are

not a part of Section

2000 should be

available on the

Intranet even if

security 5 level)

HR posted 20 certificated

postiions and 8 classified

positions to the District

HR Intranet site during

the fall 2008 semester.

Done

- Address scalar relationships and full inclusion. X X X (see page 33 for

definitions)

176



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

2.2: Establish a practice for annual review and

modification of the table of organization to reflect current

district operations.

X

2.3: Develop job descriptions for all positions that are

accurate, complete, and comply with audit principles

described in Exhibit 2.3.

Done

- Establish a timeline for the creation of job

descriptions that meet audit criteria for every position in

the system; review at least every two years for updating

and adjustment. Develop a board policy based on this

directive.

X X

- Ensure that no position reports to more than one

supervisor. If the nature of the duties performed

requires coordinating with more than one administrator,

the job description needs to clarify the roles of multiple

supervisors. The final authority should be the person

who evaluates the employee.

X (HR—realistically

some positions may not

be able to avoid this)

- Update job descriptions for principals and assistant

principals to include expectations for monitoring the

delivery of the curriculum in the classroom.

X X Job descriptions for

building administrators

(2100.51, .52, .53, .54,

.55, .56, .57) were

revised and presented to

the Board on January 21,

2008

Done (Changes to

Board January 21,

2008)

Strengthen the job descriptions to reflect current

expectations: teaching the adopted curriculum;

implementing the Millard Instructional Model

expectations for the delivery of the curriculum (such as

differentiation, active engagement, etc.); maintaining

alignment of the written, taught, and tested curricula;

and using achievement and other data to assess

performance and adjust instruction.

X X Draft to HR from Ed

Services for review

Done --April 24,

2008

3: Revise curriculum management planning to address

audit recommendations.
3.1: Revise the current plan in the area of assessment,

adding or revising the following:

177



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

- Make statements regarding the purposes and use of

assessment more specific, adopting a more formative

focus and providing specific examples of how

assessment data will be used in an ongoing fashion in

every phase of the curriculum cycle.

X X Rule 6120.1 and Rule

6130.1 address formative

assessment focus within

Course Guides and MEP

Cycle.

Completed upon

approval by BOE on

May 18, 2009

- Specifically link the curriculum management plan

with the newly-developed student and program

assessment plans (see Recommendation 4).

X X Rule 6120.1 and the

revised MEP Cycle

address the use of data in

Phase I of the Cycle as a

method of determining

necessary action within

the MEP process.

Completed upon

approval by BOE on

May 18, 2009

3.2: Revise the current plan in the area of curriculum

development, adding or revising the following:
- Add a step in the phase that requires all objectives

and outcomes be evaluated for quality, rigor,

measurability, and vertical alignment/spiraling. This

evaluation is termed a quality "screening" process, and

ensures that all objectives and outcomes are valid, up-to-

date, applicable to real-life contexts, and are rigorous. It

also ensures that all curriculum is vertically aligned and

that content is connected and spirals uninterrupted from

one level to the next.

X Rule 6120.1 addresses

the alignment of MPS

standards and indicators

with the state and calls

for a complete scope and

sequence PK-12 for all

standards and indicators.

The Language Arts

Standards and Indicators

were the first example of

this process. BOE

approved LA standards

and indicators March 2,

2009.

Completed upon

approval by BOE on

May 18, 2009

- Require that all ELO and course objective

development be conducted from a K-12 perspective,

always beginning with the end in mind, to ensure that

rigor is maintained.

X Rule 6120.1 and 6130.1

adress this issue.

Completed upon

approval by BOE on

May 18, 2009

- Revise the sequence of steps in the first phase of the

curriculum cycle to place resource selection and

piloting after the development of Essential Learner

Outcomes, student objectives, and guides.

X Rule 6120.1 revises the

entire MEP cycle to

address this issue.

Completed upon

approval by BOE on

May 18, 2009

178



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

- Add a step that requires the solicitation of input from

external evaluation sources (never publishers) regarding

the quality and alignment of possible resource

adoptions.

X Addressed in MEP Cycle

Procedures adopted by

Ed. Services and

distributed April 3, 2009.

Completed.

Procedures include

detailed Gantt Chart

for timeline analysis.

3.3: Review the job descriptions of MEP facilitators.

Consider requiring content area expertise and assigning

Pre-K-12 responsibility (see Recommendations 2 and 6.)

X X Educational Services is

making adjustments to

the MEP process to make

it more of a K-12

process, but it does not

believe that this

recommendation can be

fully implemented

without a significant

increase in the number of

MEP Facilitators

especially if this is to be

interpreted as one content

expert per discipline. At

this time, no further

action will be taken on

this recommendation.

On-going

4: Develop and initiate a program and student

assessment plan that includes the PDK/CMSi

Characteristics of a Comprehensive Student and

Program Assessment Plan. Include the development of

formal assessments that support district curricular

offerings.

Nebraska State Statute 79-

760 outlines revvised

state assessment system.

The district will adjust

and align its assessment

system with the state's.

On-going

4.1: Develop a student and program assessment plan with

components that meet the PDK/CMSi characteristics of a

comprehensive program and student assessment plan.

Obtain Board of Education approval for the plan.

X X

4.2: Continue to develop and initiate end-of-course

assessments that can be centrally managed and used to

determine student competency in the specific course.

X Revised Course Guide

parameters found in Rule

6130.2 address this

recommendation.

Completed with

BOE approval on

May 18, 2009

179



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

4.3: Develop and implement initiatives with a goal of

increasing student performance on nationally nonmed

achievement tests.

X X (Strat Plan Objective

#1 & Parameter #6)

4.4: Provide ongoing district-level training on the use of

student assessment data to make decisions to increase

student achievement.

X X District Strategic

Initiative for data retreats

addresses this issue.

MPS RtI+I model also

addresses this issue.

on-going

4.5: Improve program assessment procedures to include

specifications for the data to be collected and the

provision of information on the effectiveness of programs.

Use these data to make decisions on program

continuation, modification, or termination. Require that

program evaluations be reported to the Board of

Education on an annual basis.

X

5: Continue to focus the staff development program to:

provide connectivity between curriculum design and

classroom delivery, provide linkage to goals and district

long-range plans, provide staff development based on

identified needs, and foster improved teacher

performance and student achievement.
5.1: Include in Board Policy 6400 the requirement of a

written, comprehensive staff development plan. Add this

responsibility to the Director of Staff Development's job

description (Board Policy 2100.28).

X A Comprehensive Staff

Development Plan was

assembled and presented

to the Board as a report

on March 3, 2008. This

Plan aligns the initiatives

of the District and

focuses the staff

development activities as

recommended in the

audit.

Done

5.2: Provide staff development that is based on student

needs and weaknesses as determined by the use of

disaggregated student assessment data and teacher

appraisal information.

X X Comp Staff Dev. Plan Done

180



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

5.3: Develop a systematic and consistent staff

development program evaluation process that is based on

the criteria listed in Board Policy 6400.1.

X

5.4: Provide a system that is designed to ensure the

institutionalization of district-wide staff development

initiatives. Future staff development initiatives should be

limited until institutionalization of existing programs has

been achieved.

X Comp Staff Dev. Plan Done

5.5: Include differentiated staff development for all

employees.
X X Comp Staff Dev. Plan Done

5.6: Place all staff development efforts including the New

Teacher Induction Program under the leadership of the

Director of Staff Development.

X X

6: Continue efforts to develop an articulated and

coordinated Pre-K-12 curriculum and to provide

consistency in curriculum implementation.
6.1: Structure and operate the Educational Services

division from a Pre-K-12 perspective (see

Recommendation 2).

X All procedures and

operations are being

approached from a PK-12

perspective as is

appropriate.

On-going

- Continue with Pre-K-12 curriculum development. X Rule 6120.1 and Rule

6130.1.2.3

Completed with

BOE approal May

18, 2009
- Establish a Pre-K-12 curriculum director position

and K-12 MEP facilitator positions. Continue to

vertically align and coordinate program initiatives, such

as IB, AP, etc.

X X

6.2: Improve the quality of curriculum documents so they

provide vertical articulation and the specificity needed to

guide teaching and learning (see Recommendation 8).

X Rule 6130.2 addresses

Course Guides

Completed with

BOE approal May

18, 2009

- Develop a scope and sequence for all curriculum

guides.
X Addressed as content area

goes through cycle

- Include instructional strategies and sample model

lessons in curriculum guides.
X Course Guides content

6.3: Continue to use Professional Learning Communities

as a vehicle for increasing articulation and coordination

within schools.

X Ongoing

181



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

6.4: Clearly state and align expectations for monitoring

the curriculum in board policy, administrators' job

descriptions, and appraisal instruments.

X X Adminstrator job

descriptions revised in

accordance with CMA

recommendations.

Done

- Support the revision of administrative priorities to

ensure focus on classroom visits and related practices

and to promote instructional leadership and coaching

among principals and assistant principals at all grade

levels.

X New Teacher Evaluation

System focuses on

classroom walk-throughs.

New System

approved by BOE

July 7, 2008. The

2008-2009 school

year is the first full

year of

implementation.
- Hold administrators accountable for monitoring the

delivery of the curriculum, conducting classroom walk-

throughs, and providing constructive feedback to

teachers. Link administrative evaluations to effective

curriculum monitoring practices.

X Administrator Mutual

Commitments, Job

Descriptions, and

Teacher Evaluation

System address this issue.

- Continue to do joint walk-throughs, and provide the

next level of training in classroom walk-throughs.
X

6.5: Specify and align expectations for instructional

practices in board policy, the teacher's job description,

and the appraisal instrument.

X

- Focus district professional development on expected

instructional strategies (e.g., use of technology in the

classroom, differentiated instruction and student needs

identified through assessment data analysis). Such

training should be required of all administrators and

teachers, with follow-up procedures established.

X See Comprehensive Staff

Development Plan

Revised Yearly

- Develop a commonly understood model for

differentiated instruction in the Millard Public Schools

to meet the diversity of learner needs. Include strategies

and model lessons in curriculum guides.

X Millard Instructional

Model includes

differeintiation examples

On-going

182



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

7: Continue to refine the program budgeting process

with decisions based on performance or results.

Determine the cost benefit of programs to determine

whether or not programs should continue, be modified,

or terminated.

Program Budgeting

process recognized

curriculum adoption

needs by creating

separate Program Budget,

Curriculum Adoption,

above the line to support

seven year cycle.

Feb-09

7.1: Continue to review budget development policies and

rules to provide ongoing direction for the program based-

budgeting process.

X Rule 3110.1 revised to

include reference to

Program Budgeting

BOE Approved

07/07/2008

7.2: Evaluate the program-based budgeting process

annually to determine if changes should be made
X Addition of new

Curriculum Allocation

budget result of this

review.

Feb-09

7.3: Incorporate the tenets of criteria in the budget

development process that are recommended by the

CMSi/PDK auditors. Specifically focus on the use of

student performance and program data to make budgetary

decisions.

X X

7.4: Review the staffing allocation process to determine

if resources are being allocated to schools with identified

needs.

X Class Size Reduction

from Title IIA, Poverty

Plan, ELL Plan, and

Points Allocation System

all address staffing needs

of schools based upon

identified needs.

Ongoing

8: Continue to prioritize the revision and development

of quality curriculum documents that are congruent

with audit criteria and support the instructional

methodology desired by district leaders.

183



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

8.1: Clearly define, with references to professional or

other literature used in staff development trainings, what

quality instruction looks like in the classroom, particularly

in world-class schools. Include in this description the type

of strategies and approaches district leaders expect to see

in every classroom, regardless of the grade level or

content area. These descriptions should be detailed in the

written curriculum documents, and stand apart from the

suggested approaches or strategies that form a component

of the guides. This piece is intended to define what

instruction (the delivery of curriculum) should look like;

the suggested strategies are intended to provide teachers

with specific ideas on how to teach an objective or skill.

Include examples of effective differentiation for different

learning styles and skill levels, congruent with former

trainings.

X With each content areas

adoption of new materials

and adjusted curriculum,

special administrator

guides will be created to

help principals know and

understand the

curriculum and the

instructional best

practices that should be

observed in the classroom

PK-12.

Language Arts

Summer 2009

8.2: Revise the current policy for curriculum format and

components, requiring guides to meet criteria more than

just beyond the minimum components. Also, require the

needed levels of specificity for each component and

specify that the components themselves be internally

aligned. For example, while the objectives specifically

define the content and standard of performance of

instruction, the suggested lessons and strategies, along

with exemplary student assignments and practice

activities, define the context and cognitive rigor of

instruction. All parts should work in concert, assisting

teachers in their task of facilitating and eliciting each

child's learning. While alignment of the written, taught,

and tested curriculum is desired in the implementation of

the educational program across the district, similar

alignment is desired within the curriculum documents

themselves: objectives with suggested strategies, and

these in turn with the assessment instruments.

X Rule 6130.1 Completed upon

approval by BOE on

May 18, 2009

184



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

8.3: Streamline the electronic document management

system for curriculum documents. Discuss the needed

format; reorganize so components are grouped in

appropriate sections. For example, rather than placing

everything under "resources" or "documents," group

everything under "curriculum," then organize curriculum

by content area, course, and/or grade. For each

curriculum, design a format whereby one can go to each

component of the guide, such as:

X Alternative electronic

document management

systems are under review

for curriculum

management. Such

systems would replace

the use of the District’s

Intranet static PDF

documents. Such systems

are extremely costly.

Myelearning (Angel)

system, a Learning

Management System

(LMS) is being reviewed

for implementation in

2009-2010.

- Descriptions of model instruction for that grade

level/content area, with video clips of master teachers;
X

- Any pertinent and relevant information from best

practices, including philosophy and belief statements

regarding how children best learn this content and in

what kind of environment;

X

- ELOs, standards and benchmarks, and enabling

objectives;
X

- Sample assessment items, links to formative

assessment instruments, and end-of-course assessments

or other tests;

X X

- Suggested strategies and/or lesson plans, with any

resources or materials needed;
X

- Suggested "mastery-level" student performance

activities/projects, with accompanying rubrics. These

assignments are designed to serve as authentic

assessments, and provide students the opportunity to

demonstrate mastery of the target concepts, knowledge,

or skills. Using rubrics, the results of these performance-

based assess-ments can be collected for analysis and

used for both grading and instructional decision making.

X

185



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

8.4: Link suggested strategies to specific units and/or

weeks. Have an "overview" page for every course within a

content area that shows how content is organized into

thematic or conceptual units or by units of time, and

provide the links to suggested lessons/strategies. From

those strategies or lessons, provide links to the available

student activities.

X

8.5: Revisit with all MEP facilitators as well as future

curriculum development committees what quality,

specific, and measurable enabling objectives look like.

Ensure that all committees and facilitators involved in the

development process have high quality sample guides

from which to glean ideas for the guide under revision,

and require all guides to be screened for quality (by

designated persons, always the same ones) before they are

disseminated to teachers and schools.

X

8.6: Revisit, by content area, what differentiation looks

like in the classroom. Integrate this content with the

training in expectations for instructional delivery; this

should all form a major part of the MIM training and

reinforce district efforts to seamlessly unite curriculum

and teaching.

X

9: Continue to align new programs and initiatives with

board policies, strategic planning priorities, and the

curriculum. Control the number of district and building

initiatives implemented. Provide staff development,

support, and follow through over several years to

increase the likelihood of success.
9.1: Prioritize and limit the number of initiatives

introduced at the district and school levels each year.
X X Only initiatives derived

from the District’s

Strategic Plan or the

Board’s Goals for the

Superintendent have been

undertaken this year as

identified in Rec 9.1.

Ongoing

- Establish a district leadership level clearinghouse to

prioritize and monitor the number of new programs and

innovations developed to address the goals of the

Strategic Plan.

X X Prioties established by

Superintendent with

advise from Executive

Cabinet.

Ongoing

186



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

- Expect that school improvement teams consider

district initiatives, new curriculum, and assessment

requirements when adding additional school-based

programs.

X Component of Policy

10,000 and Rule 10,000.1

and site planning process.

Yearly

9.2: Require systematic evaluation of both district level

and school programs.
X

9.3: Evaluate and revise the HAL program so as to

provide a high quality, consistent educational program to

meet the needs of gifted and talented students.

X Rec 9.3 calls for the

review of the High

Ability Learners (HAL)

program. MEP/Cadre

Kim Rice has lead this

effort with

recommendations for

identification and

program change

forthcoming.

Report to BOE on

HAL identification

process on

December 1, 2008

9.4: Revise and update the Technology portion of Board

Policy 10000.1: Site Based Planning and Shared

Decision Making to reflect district level decisions that

include assistance with the integration of technology into

the curriculum and district level technology staff

development.

X X Policy 10000.1 Rec 9.4 was addressed in

July 2007 in Rule

10,000.1

Done

9.5: Establish measurable criteria for the evaluation of

the technology program in terms of supporting teaching

and learning and increased productivity in district

operations.

X X

9.6: Continue to refine technological procedures to

facilitate instructional decision making. Among the areas

that need attention are the following:

X X X

- Efficient access to the curriculum online X X X Options under review Cost and Support

Issues

- Assessment and data reporting of ELOs X X X Rec 9.6 is being

addressed by the

implementation of the

data warehouse and

Growth Path Analytics

software. This was

approved by the Board on

January 21, 2008.

GPA contract under

review. Alternative

vendor being sought.

187



Post-Audit Continuing Recommendations

Recommendation ES HR P/E Tech Bus/

Fin

Gen

Adm

Supt Exec

Cabt

Policy/Rule Reference Action to be Taken Timeline
Responsible Party

- Infinite Campus X X X
- Elementary report cards X X X Continued work on

elementary report cards

and the implementation

of K-1 standards based

report card next year in

Infinite Campus address

(Rec 9.6).

Done

9.7: Assist teachers and administrators in the

implementation of recent initiatives so these efforts are

mutually supportive. For example, Professional Learning

Communities can be used as a vehicle to promote

articulation and coordination of the curriculum; make

decisions on pacing, reteaching, etc. based on assessment

data; and sharing ideas on differentiation of instruction.

X

188



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

Agenda Item: Career Academy Development Update

Meeting Date: May 18, 2009

Department: Educational Services

Title and Brief
Description: Career Academy Development Status Report

Action Desired: Information Only

Background: In support of the district strategic plan, one career academy will open at
each high school in the fall of 2009. Millard North will host a Finance
Academy; Millard South, an Entrepreneurship Academy; and Millard
West, an Education Academy.

Planning is in progress for academies that will open at Horizon High
School in the fall of 2010. Horizon will host Culinary Skills; Health
Sciences; and Transportation, Distribution and Logistics academies. This
report summarizes planning progress on the academies.

Recommendations: Receive the report

Strategic Plan
Reference: Strategy 6, Action Plans 4, 5, and 6

Responsible
Persons: Mark Feldhausen, Nancy Johnston, and Barb Waller

Superintendent’s Signature:

189



Academy Development Progress

2009-2010

 Project based learning training and academy collaboration will occur in June 2009
 21st Century Learning Environment will include laptop cart, interactive white board, projector, course

management software-Angel

Orientation/Overview Sessions:
 6 Millard Middle Schools
 4 Millard High Schools
 K-12 Counselors
 Southwest Kiwanis
 Rotary Scheduled for June
 2 Graduate Seminar Classes
 ELL Parent Night
 We are happy to do more!

Current information available at: http://www.mpsomaha.org/academies/index.html

2010-2011 Academies

Students will earn 40 credits toward high school graduation while also earning dual enrollment credit in the
following programs. The dual enrollment credit identified below is recommended, but has not been confirmed.

Culinary Skills Academy

Courses may include the following and are subject to change:

 Culinary Math  Vegetable and Starch Basics
 Sanitation  Soup and Starch Basics
 Culinary Foundations  Protein Basics
 Nutrition for Culinary Professional  Ala Carte Cookery
 Cost Management  Baking Basics
 Culinary Purchasing

Building Enrollment High School
Credit

College Credit

Education Academy WHS 18 40 27

Entrepreneurship
Academy

SHS 16 40 30 + 6 via AP Exam

Finance Academy NHS 17 40 27 + 6 via AP Exam

Associate of Applied Science:
Culinary Arts and Management

Building High School Credit Potential College Credit
(MCC)

Major Requirements for Culinary Arts
and Management Horizon 40 26.5
Requirements for Culinary Arts
Option Horizon 40
General Education Requirements Horizon 5.5
Total 40 72

190



Transportation, Distribution and Logistics (TDL)

An Associate’s Degree is composed of two certificates, Industrial Distribution I and II

Associate of Applied Science:
Industrial Distribution

Building High School Credit Potential College Credit
(MCC)

Industrial Distribution I Horizon 40 16
Industrial Distribution II Horizon 16
Elective Requirements Horizon Focus to be determined
General Education Requirements Horizon 13.5
Total 40 45.5-70

Courses may include the following and are subject to change:

 Industrial Safety and Health
 Introduction to Distribution
 Business Logistics
 Purchasing and Materials Management
 Mechanical Print Reading
 Problem Solving
 Internship

Health Sciences
This Associate’s Degree will have the new title “Nursing and Pre-Med” and will articulate with University of
Nebraska Medical Center in the fall of 2009.

Associate of Applied Science:
Professional Health Studies

Building High School Credit Potential College Credit
(MCC)

Major Requirements Horizon 40 45
General Education Requirements Horizon 27
Total Horizon 40 66

Courses could include:
 CPR
 Heart Saver First Aid/AED
 Long Term Care/C.N.A.
 Medication Aide/Tech
 Medical Terminology I
 Medical Terminology II
 Disease Processes
 Anatomy &Physiology I
 Anatomy & Physiology II

191


	Board Meeting May 18, 2009
	Agenda
	Administrative Memorandum
	E.1. Board Minutes May 4, 2009
	Financials
	E.4. Committee Meeting May 11, 2009
	G.1. Approval of Policy 6120 - Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment - Written Curriculum - MEP Curriculum 
	Policy 6120
	G.2. Approval of Policy 6130 - Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment - Written curriculum - Frameworks and Course Guides
	Policy 6130
	H.1. Approval of 2009 Graduates - Millard North High School
	Millard South High School
	Millard West High School
	H.2. Approval of Rule 6120.1 - Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment - Written Curriculum - MEP Curriculum Planning
	Rule 6120.1
	H.3.  Approval of Rule 6130.1 - Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment - Curriculum Frameworks
	Rule 6130.1
	H.4.  Approval of Rule 6130.2 - curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment - Course Guides
	H.5. First Reading of Policy 4125 - Human Resources - Certification
	Policy 4125
	Rule 4125.1
	H.6. Approval of Rule 4510.6 - Human Resources - Leaves of Absence - Family and Medical Leave Act
	Rule 4510.6
	H.7. Approval of Rule 5400.1 - Pupil Services - Student Discipline
	Rule 5400.1
	H.8. Approval of Rule 5400.6 - Pupil Services - Standards for Student Conduct
	Rule 5400.6
	H.9. Award Contract for Interactive Whiteboard Project
	H.10. Approval of Personnel Actions: Amendment to Continuing Contracts, Resignations, and New Hires
	Amendment to Continuing Contracts
	Resignations
	New Hires
	I.1. Legislative Update
	I.2. Updated Enrollment Projections
	I.3. ELO Senior Status Update
	I.4. Curriculum Management Audit Update
	I.5. Career Academy Development Update



